Phytopharm plc The pharmaceutical
Report and accounts development and
2007 functional food company

Developing & Delivering

LU IRY

A34 18/01/2008 1
COMPANIES HOUSE




Contents

o1 Business highlights

o2 Chairmar's statement

03 Chief Executive’s review

04 Our strategic objectives

08 Our business strategy

09 Our pipeline

1c Business review: Pharmaceutical products

14 Business reiew Functional foods

1& Financal review

2o Corporate social responsibihity review

23 Board of Directors

24 Directors’ report

29 Remuneration report of the Board of Directors
37 Corporate governance

42 Independent auditors’ report to the members of Phytopharm plc
44 Consoldated income statement

45 Consclidated and Company balance sheets

46 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equty

47 Consolidated and Company cash flow statements
48 Notes to the finanaal statements

Inspired by nature...

We develop novel products in areas of high unmet health needs,
to deliver cures and relieve suffering for healthier lives, for longer.
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Business highlights

Pharmaceutical products
Myogane™ Cogane™
Successful completion 1 July 2007 Data on preclinical models of Data presented at ‘Neuroscience

of a Phase Ib healthy volunteer

Parkinsorr's disease presented at

2007, the j7th annual meeting

chnzcal tnal for Myogane™, “The Movement Disorder Society’s of the Society for Neuroscience',
our amyotrophic lateral 11th international congress’ in in San Diego USA, November,
sclerosis (ALS) product Istanbul, Tirkey, June zoo7, demonstratng that n a prechmcal
supporting a novel mode of achon model, Cogane™ elevates ghal-
for Cogane™ in treating the denved neurotrophzc factor (GDNF)
underlying disease 11 the area of the brain mvolved
m Parkinsorfs disease
Functional foods
Hoodia extract Phytopica® PYM60086
Hooda extract, our weight Sales of our camine skin health In heence of a novel functional
management product parmered with ~ product, Phytopica®, partnered food for memory and concentration
Unilever, enters final development with Schering-Plough exceed from the Bepng Institute, China in
stage prior to registrabion and expectations (103% growth on June zo07

commeraal launch

Good progress in cimical tnals with
healthy overweight subjects

an annualised basis)

Schenng Plough launches
Phytoptca® in [taly in March
and n France n Apnl 2co7

Our strategy

Phytopharm 1s a pharmaceutical development and funchonal food company Our products are developed from medianal
plants thereby reducing the development nisk, cost and time to market As a virtual company, Phytopharm's model

1s centred on a tean cash burn with all laboratory, manufacturing and chinical work out-sourced to specialists, while
core competencies such as strategy and management are maintamned in-house Close collaboration with chantable
organisations enhances our interaction with Key Opimon Leaders and accelerates our development programmes

mcreasing their value
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Chairmarn's
statement

review

Phytopharm's business strategy of developing
pharmaceuncal products and functonal foods
from medianal plants 1s appeahing and the
Company has an impressive portfolio of
nnovative products 1n areas of high unmet
health needs With the new management
tearn 1n place, the business has a dear vision
and strong growth potennal

Non-Executive Directors are closely involved
with the governance of the Company and we
form the Audit and Remuneration Cormnrmttees
Of particular satisfaction 15 the high quality of
internal operauonal and finanaial controls the
Group mamntains

I was dehighted to be inwited to
join the Board of Directors as
Non-Executive Chairman in
July zoo7

My Non-Executive Enrector colleagues and

I continue to be impressed by the qualty of
people 1n the business and their energy and
commutment. The Board and management team
have a keen focus on the creation of shareholder
value and a senies of strategic objectives have
been put 1n place to achieve this goal We look
forward to developing our products further
and dehvenng en our objectives 1n 2008

Alistarr Taylor
Non-Executive Chairman

I am pleased to report that
Phytopharm 1s making goed
progress in developing a broad,
balanced portfolic of products
with diversified nisk and
substantial potential value




o3 Phytopharm ple

Report and accounts 2007
Cheef Executive’s review

Upon my appomntment to Chief Executive

1in January 2007, | implemented a senes of
strategic objectives that included rationalisimg
our pipehine while improving our abihity to
develop our products

With the appointment of Prers Morgan as
Chtef Financial Officer i January 2007,
the management team 1s strengthened,
bringing sigruficant benefits to the Board
and the Company

Over the period we have continued to make
good progress in chinical trials with our weight
management product, Hoodia extract, and
advanced successfully into the final development
stage prior to registration and launch wath our
partner Umlever, in September 2007 This final
development stage includes supply chain
expansion and consumer studies that wall
evaluate reductions n calone intake as part
of a weight management programme n the
general population

It1s encouraging that sales of our canine skan
health product, Phytopica®, by our partner
Schenng-Plough have exceeded expectahons
(103% growth on an annualised basis) and

that their European rollout has begun with
launches in Italy 1in March 2007 and France
m Apnl zo07

Over the period we have made steady progress
with our pharmaceutical products 1n chimical
development We have successfully advanced
Myogane™ for amyotrophic lateral sderosis
(ALS) through a Phase [b healthy volunteer
chnical tnal in July 2007 and we requested EU
orphan medianal product status for Myogane™
m December 2007 We have also demonstrated
that in prechmcal models of Parkinsorts
disease, Cogane™ reverses the neuronal
damage and elevates glal-denved neurotrophic
factor (GDNF) in the area of the brain involved
m Parkanson’s disease Elevation of GDNF

has been shown to iImprove symptoms in
Parkinsor's disease patients

One of our strategic objectives 1s to share the
cost and nsk of product development while
increasing long term shareholder value The
data from our pharmaceutical products has
generated considerable interest from chantable
orgamisations and we are finalising strategic
finanaal support from these orgamsations for
further development activites

Phytophamm has developed a broad portfolio of
products with diversified nsk and substantial
value Qur functional food products are now
generating revenue Qur partner Schering
Plough continues its European rollout of
Phytopica® wath revenues exceeding expectations
and wath therr global presence we look forward
to continued growth Meanwhle, Unilever 1s
fully funding our programme for Hoodia extract,
and we look forward to generating royalty
mncome 1n the near future on product launch

We operate with a low cash burm and with
strategic financial support being finahised
from chantable organisations to develop
further our pharmaceutical products Cogane™
and Myogane™, we will continue to reduce our
net development costs while increasing long
term shareholder value By delivenng on our
strategic objectives, we look forward wath
confidence to building on our achievements
and reporting on the continued development
of our pipeline over the corming year

Dr Daryl Rees
Chief Executive Officer

Our key strategic objectives:

Developing

Delivening

Measunng our success against
our key strategic objectives

A broad, balanced portfolio of
products with diversified risk
and substantial potental value

On our strategy to create value
for our shareholders
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Strategic objective 1
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Our strategic objectives

Developing

...a broad, balanced porttolio of
products with diversified risk
and substantial potential value

How we are achieving this

Cogane™ Myogane™ PYM6oo86
an orally active, neurotrophic an orally active, neurotrophic a novel functional food for
factor inducer for Parlanson's & factor inducer for ALS memory and concentratton
Alzheimer's disease
Cogane™ 1s being developed for Parkunsor(s Myogane™ is being developed for ALS (also PYM60086 1s a functional food that we

and Alzheimer's disease and has potenual as

a treatment for neuropsychiatric disorders

A consistent feature of Parkinson's disease 15
the loss of dopamine-contaimng neurones mn
the substantia mgra area of the brain In 2007,
we presented data showing that in pre-climeal
models of Parkansor(s disease, Cogane™ reverses
the neuronal damage and elevates ghal-denved
neurotrephic factor {GDNF} 1n thus area

of the brain Elevaton of GDNF has been
shown to improve symptoms tn Parkinson's
disease patients

known as Lou Gehng's disease) ALS 15 the
most conunon motor neurone disease and
results from progressive degeneration of
motor neurones Myogane™ protects agamnst
neuronal damage when admimstered orally
to precinical models of ALS, delays the loss
of muscle strength and extends survival ime
In July 2007 we successfully advanced cur
oral hquid formulation of Myogane™ through
a Phase Ib healthy volunteer chinical tnal

licensed from the Benng Institute, China in
July 2007 This in-licence fulfils one of our
strategc objectives of expanding our product
portfolio with a functonal food candidate for
memory and concentration, an area 1n which
we have estabhished expertise
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Cogane™

Elevates glial-derived
neurotrophic factor

{GDNF)in the arca
oif the brain involve
in Parkinson's discase
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Delivering

...on our strategy to create
value for our stakeholders

How we are achieving this

Hoodia extract
welght management
functional foed product

Phytopica®
natural, three plant product
for canine skan health

Cogane™
an orally active, neurotrophic
factor inducer for Parkinson's &
Alzheimer’s disease

Hoodia extract contains a novel satiety
shmulator that reduces calone intake in
overweight subjects We have continued

to make good progress in cinical trials and

in September 2007 advanced successfully
inte the final development stage prior to
registration and launch wath our partner
Unilever Thus final development stage incdudes
supply chain expansion and consumer studies
that will evaluate reductions in calone intake
as part of a weight management programme
1n the general population

Phytopica® 1s a novel three in one approach
to help maintain a normal healthy immune
system, suppert normal white cell function
and provide anhoxidant benefits Sales of
Phytopica® by our partner Schenng-Plough
have exceeded expectations {r03% growth on
an annuahsed basis) and their European
rollout has begun with launches in Italy

mn March 2007 and France in Apnl 2007
Schering-Plough will continue to explore

the marketing and distribution of Phytopica®
in further countnes worldwide

Our Cogane data has generated considerable
mterest from chantable organisations and
we are now finalising the sirategic financial
support from these organisations for further
development activities
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Hoodha extract

Hoodia extract enters
final development stage

priot to registration and
conmmercial launch
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Medicinal plants - history of use

/’

+ Reduces development cost and time
« Reduces risk

« Pharmaceuticals and

functional foods

\

o /

We develop novel
products in areas

of high unmet
health needs, —
to deliver cures —
and relieve suffering
for healthier lives,
for longer.

\

Virtual operation

( Internal expertise with outsourced A
development activities

» Reduces costs/maximises efficiency

+ Enhances collaboration with KOLs
and speaalist contractors worldwide

Balanced portfolio

K- High value products (major CNS )

and asthma)

« Low cost, rapid development
products (orphan pharmaceuticals,
functional foods)

\ Enhances innovative partnering )

KOL = Key Opinion Leader

" Human and veterinary markets

Partner with charitable organisations

/- Reduces development cost )

+ Enhances collaboration with KOLs

« Validates novel treatments for
diseases with igh unmet medcal
need and enhances value

. J
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Our pipeline

Company pipeline
Development Status
Programme Product Precimical studies Phase | Phase Il Phase Ifl Marketed
Consumer Studies
Canine skin health Phytopica® Global licence: Schering-Ptough
Waight management Hoodta extract Global licence: Unilever
Parkinson ¢ disease Cogane™ e
5
o
Alzheimer s disease Cogane™ e
ALS and orphan diseases Myogane™
Asthma & COPD PYM&0001 series _
bl
Memory & concentration  PYM&0086 - US&EU 3
5
Vascular dementia PYM&0084 - China o

Prader-Will syndrome PYMS00DR4 series )

Pharmaceutical products Functional foods

Single chernucals greater Standardised plant extracts where the
than 98 % punty chemical compositon is not fully speafied
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Pharmaceutical products

Overview

Cogane™ (PYMs50028) 15 an orally active, neurotrophuc factor inducer being
developed as a disease modifying agent for Parkansorfs and Alzhemmer’s disease
and has the potential as a treatment for neuropsychiatric disorders Myogane™
(PYMs50018} 1s an orally active, neurotrophic factor inducer being developed
as a disease modifying agent for ALS (also known as Lou Gehng's disease)

Myogane™ has been granted Orphan Drug and Fast Track status by the US FDA
The Orphan Drug Act was created by the United States Congress to provide
assistance and incentives for sponsers to develop drugs judged to be of potennal
benefit for a qualifying disease Orphan drug designation quahfies a product
for possible finanaal incentives, including seven years of marketing exclusivity
upon FDA approval, and the potenhal of an expedited approval The Fast Track
programme 1s designed to expedite the review of drug candidates for the
treatment of patients with serious or hife-threatening diseases where there 15
an unmet medical need for new therapeutic approaches Hawing a Fast Track
designation allows a company to file a New Drug Apphcation (NDA) on a
rolling basis as data becomes available This enables the FDA to review the
filing as 1t 1s recewved, rather than waiting for the entire document pnior to
commencing the review process With a Fast Track designation, there 1s often
the opportunity for more frequent interachions with the FDA and the option
of requesting evaluation of studies using surrogate endpoints In additton,
there may be the possibility of a pnionty review, which could decrease the
typical review period

Parkinsor's and

Alzheimer’s disease

Parkinsoris disease 1s a movemnent disorder
charactensed by musdle ngidity, tremor, a slowing
of physical movement (bradykanesiaj and, in

extremne cases, a loss of physical movernent
{akinesia) The prunary symptoms are the result
of altered signaling of an area of the bramn,

the striatum, responsible for the contrel of
movement This 1s caused by degeneration of
dopaminergic neurones between the stnatum
and the substantia nigra part of the bramn leading
to msufficent formation and action of doparmine

The prevalence of the disease 1s eshmated to be
100 to 200 per 100,000 population (Source
Datamonitor) In the US alone, there are
estimated to be one million patients with
diagnosed Parkansor(s disease with assoqated
healthcare costs of $25 bilhon (Source Northwest
Parlansors Foundation submission to US
Congress) Parlansors disease can affect people
of any age, though the inadence 15 hugher in
older people The cause of Parkinsor’s disease
1n the majonty of cases 1s unknown Possible

$25 billion
In the US there are one million
patents diagnosed with Parkinsor's
disease with associated healthcare
costs eshmated at up to $25 billion

The Cure Parkanson's Trust, supported by
Movers and Shakers has funded some of
our prechnical studies and was co-founded
by four individuals wath Parkinsorts who
are determined to help find a cure for this
debihtating disease
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mechamsms include oxadative damage of nerve
cells coupled with loss of neurotrophic factors
Neuratrophic factors are essental for the survival
and maintenance of nerve cells and prownde
protection against texc insults, however as
proteins, thetr utlity as pharmacological
treatments are hmited (Source The Cure
Parkinsor's Trust)

At present, there 15 nio cure for Parkinsor's
disease, but a variety of medications provide
temporary relief from the symptoms, usually
by doparmine replacement therapy

Alzheimer’s disease 15 a neurodegenerahve
disorder that mainly affects the elderly and 1s
charactenised by a progressive loss of learming
ability and memory Alzheimer's disease 15
thought to affect 4 § million people in the US,
and 1t 15 belteved that this number will continue
to grow to approxamately 16 million by zo50
(Source Alzheimer's Association)

There 1s an urgent need for the development
of new approaches to both Parkinson's and

Report and accounts 2007
Business review

Alzheimer’s disease and non-peptide orally
bioavailable neurotrophic factor inducers that
reachly cross the blood brain barner represent
an important therapeutic approach

The eshrated market size 1n zo10 15
approxamately $5bn for Parkinsor's disease,
$8bn for Alzheimer's disease and $13bn for
the neuropsychiatnc disorders schmzophrenia,
depression and anaety

Mode of action

Cogane™ (PYMs50028) 15 a novel non-peptide,
orally bicavailable neurotrophic factor inducer
that readily crosses the blood brain barner

In preclimcal studies, Cogane™ shmulates the
release of neuronal growth factors and increases
neurite outgrowth Importantly, Cogane™

also reverses the decrease of neuronal growth
factors and reverses doparmnergic neuronal
degeneration observed in vitto When
admimistered orally to precimical models of
Parkansorfs disease, Cogane™ reverses the loss
of dopaminergic neurones and elevates ghal
denved neurotrophic factor (GDNF}

Cogane™ restores the learming and memory
abihity in Alzhermer's disease preclimcal models
and thereby offers the potental to arrest or
reverse the progression of Alzheimer's disease

The neuroprotective, neurorestorahve and
neurotrophic achons of Cogane™ suggest
potential beneficial effects in other neuro-
degenerative diseases including chabetic
neuropathy and neuropsychiatnic disorders
such as schizophrema, depression and anxiety

Progress to date

In our Phase Ia chmical study of Cogane™ in
mild and moderate Alzhermer's disease patients
The more moderate Alzheimer’s patents
showed a dechne in cogmtion n the placebo
group with an encouraging trend for slower
disease progression in the Cogane™ treated
group This, coupled wath 1ts excellent safety
profile and tolerabihity, provides positive data for
longer term studies for efficacy determination
in both Parkansorts and Alzhermer’s disease

Ito 21in 1,000

100 to 200 per 100,000 population
have Parkinson's disease

Drrect infusions of GDNF in the brain of
Parlansor(s disease patients has been shown
to restore the control of movement
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Pharmaceutical products continued

Over the penod we have made significant
progress demonstrating that in prechmical
models of Parlansorfs disease, Cogane™ reverses
the damage to dopamine-contaiming neurones
and elevates GDNF in the area of the brain
involved in Parlansorr's disease These studies
were partly funded by The Cure Parkinsors
Trust Elevaton of GDNF has been shown

to improve symptoms 1n Parkinsorfs disease
patients and our data has generated considerable
mterest from chantable organisahons We are
now finalising strategic finanaal support from
these orgarusations for further development
activities for Parkansort's disease

Motor neurone disease

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS, also
known as Lou Gehng's disease) 1s the most
prevalent form of motor neurcne disease
which generally strikes people between 40
and 6o years of age It1s charactenised by
progressive loss of both lower (spinal cord
and brain stem) and upper {cerebral cortex)
motor neurcnes, which leads to severe
muscle weakness and wasting, followed by

paralysis and death, generally caused by
respiratory faillure

ALS 15 considered an orphan disease (1e the
condition 1s rare) as 1t affects fewer than
200,000 1n the US (US defininon) and affects
no more than 5 1n 10,000 people (EU defirution)
Approximately 350,000 patients suffer from
ALS world wide, of which 50% die within 18
months of diagnosis The financial cost to
farmilies of patients 15 exceedingly hugh, and
1t 15 estmated that care can ¢ost an average
of $200,000 per patent per year {Source
[nternational Athance of ALS Associations)

The prease causes of motor neurone
degeneration in ALS patients remain unksnown
Approximately five to 109 of cases appear to
be of familial ongin and possible mechanisms
mnclude loss of neurotrophic factors coupled
with oxidative and glutamate mediated damage
of nerve cells Neurotrophuc factors are essential
for the survival and mantenance of nerve cells
and provide pratection aganst toxic insults,
however as proteins, their utithty as pharma-

cological treatments are limmted Riluzole
{Rulutek™), a glutamate modulator, 15 the only
agent indicated for the treatment of thrs condition
and increases average survival by only a few
months {source Datamonitor} There 15 an
urgent need for the development of new
approaches to thus devastahng condition and non-
peptide orally bicavailable neurctrophic factor
inducers that reachly cross the blood bramn barmer
represent an unportant therapeutic approach

Mode of acion

Myogane™ 15 a novel non-peptide, orally
bioavailable neurotrophuc factor inducer that
reachly crosses the blood brain barmer In
prechinical studies, Myogane™ stimulates the
release of neuronal growth factors and increases
neurite outgrowth Myogane™ also reverses the
decrease of neuronal growth factors, reverses
oxdative and glutamate damage and reverses
neuronal degeneration observed in motor
neurones in vitro When admuristered orally te
preclinical models of ALS, Myogane™ delays the
loss of musde strength and extends survval time

$200,000

In the advanced stage of ALS,
supportive care can cost an average
of $200,000 per pahent per year

ALS 15 charactensed by the progressive
degeneratton of motor neurones leading
to severe paralysis, muscle washng and
eventually death
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Progress to date

Phytopharm has successfully completed

a Phase Ta climical study conducted under an
mveshgational new drug (IND) filed with the
Unted States Foed and Drug Admmistrabon
(FDA} and confirmed that Myogane™ was wel!
absorbed with an excellent safety profile The
FDA has also granted Orphan Drug and Fast
Track designation to Myogane™ for the treatment
of ALS In July 2007, we successfully progressed
through a Phase Ib healthy volunteer cincal
tnal with a new liquid formulahon suitable for
ALS patients conducted under a cimcal tnal
authonsation (CTA) filed with the Medicines
and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
(MHRA) Our data has generated considerable
terest from chantable orgamisations and

we are progressing discussions for further
development activities wath these orgarusations

The neuroprotective, neurorestorative and neuro-
trophic actions of Myogane™ suggest potential
beneficial effects in other orphan motor neuro-
degenerative diseases including Huntingtorrs
disease, Friednchs ataxia, progressive

Report and accounts 2007
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supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy
The aggregate market size for these orphan
diseases 15 estimated to be 1n excess of $1bn

Asthma and COPD

Asthma 1s a chrome inflammatory disorder

of the arrways that causes recurrent episodes
of wheeang, breathlessness, chest tightness
and coughing In addition, asthma 15 usually
assoaated with widespread but vanable airflow
obstruction Inhibition of inflammatton and
opening of the airways are therefore key
components of asthma treatment

Mode of achon

Qur lead candidates have novel anti-
mnflammatory and airway relaxant actwity
1n several models of asthma

Progress to date

Steady progress has been made i identfying
novel synthetic molecules from the PYM6ooo:
senes that can be developed as a pharmaceutcal
mediane for the treatment of asthma and
chromc obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)

Prechimical comparative ‘proof of concept” studhes
with marketed products have demonstrated
encouragmg results showmg mmproved
benefiaal effects in several models of asthrmna

Prader-Whlli syndrome
Prader-Will syndrome 15 an orphan disease
{1e the condihion 15 rare) as 1t affects fewer
than 200,000 1 the US (US defimtion) and
affects no more than § 1n 10,000 people
{EU defimtion) It 15 charactenised by clearly
definable features including obesity due

to hyperphagia and a decreased calonfic

requirement owing to low energy expenditure

Mode of action

The mechamsm of achon of the chemical senes
based on the active components of our Hoodia
extract {see below} 1s under 1nvestigation

Progress to date

Proteomic research 1s helping to define novel
targets and the design of new molecules from
the PYM60c004 senes as pharmaceutical
candidates for Prader Wilh syndrome

£850 million
Approximately exght milion people
in the UK have been diagnosed with

asthma and the condition costs the
NHS on average £850 mulhon per year

I1n 15,000
Prader-Wih syndrome (PWS)
1s 2 genetic disorder that
occurs 1n approximately one
out of every 15,000 births

Asthma 1s a chronic inflammatory condition
of the airways with widespread vanable
airflow obstructhon
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Functional foods
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Overview

Dietary weight management

Our patented functional food, Hoodia extract for incorporation into weaght
loss products 1s making continued good progress In September 2007, we
advanced mnto the final development stage wath our heensing partner, Urnulever

Our marketed veterinary functional food for canine skin health, Phytopica®,
has shown an increase in sales (103% growth on an annuahsed basis) following
launch 1n the UK, Italy and France by our partner, Schering-Plough

Funchonal foods are foodstuffs that provide health or physiological benefits
above their nutnitional value and have a health claim on the packaging
Currently gut and heart health products dorminate with new interest m areas
of weight control, memory and concentration, anh-fabgue, immune system
function and skin health The global value of functional foods 1s estimated
to be up to $65bn The growth potential 1s predicted to be 50% from 2005
to 2010 with an accelerating trend for new products

Obesity 1s a major health problem and growing
rapidly in mumbers and seventy In the US 66%
of adults are overweight or obese (Source US
National Centre for Statistics) and healthcare
costs are thought to amount to $100 billion
{Source Amencan Obesity Assoaation)

The problem 15 growing in Europe, and in

the UK about 43% of men and 34% of women
are overwerght, and a further 22% of men

and 23% of women are obese (Source British
Heart Foundation) There 1s a nsing level of
premature obesity in children and obesity 1s
increasing 1n the developing world

In 2002, the market for the dietary control of
obesity was $2 3 talhon mn the US alone, and
this has continued to grow (Source Market
Research Report, Weight control-US)

Mode of actron

Our weght management functional food
product 1s based on an extract of the succulent
plant, Hoodia, which contains a novel satiety
stimulator that reduces calone intake in

Hoodia extract

development stage

Enters final

66%

In the US 66% of adults
are overweight or obese

Unlever have a range of funchenal foeds
on the market
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overweight subjects, 2s demenstrated tn our
double-bhnd, placebo-controlled chrucal study
[n thus study, overweight but otherwise healthy
male volunteers were randomly allocated to
recewve either Hoodia extract or placebo twice
daily for 15 days The Hoodia extract group
showed a statisheally sigmficant reduchion

in the average daily calone intake compared
with placebo (p= 0 o14) with a statistically
sigmficant reduction in body fat content
compared with the placebo {p=0 035)

No senous adverse effects were expenenced
by any of the subjects, and the safety data are
consistent wath a satisfactory overall safety
profile The kanetic data confirm that the
systermic exposure to biclogically active
constituents of Hoodia was conststent with
the observed clinical effects

Progress to date

In Decermnber 2004, we announced that we
had granted an exclusive global hcence for
the Hoodia extract to Urnlever plc Under the
termns of the agreement, Phytopharm and
Urnilever are collaborating on a five-stage
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research, development and launch programme
of safety and efficacy studies with a view to
bringing new weight management products to
market Over the penod we have continued to
advance successfully through climical tnals 1n
healthy overweight subjects as well as all other
aspects of our Joint Development Agreement

In September 2007, we announced that

we had successfully progressed into stage 3

of our Joint Development Agreement. Stage 3
activities mclude supply chain expansion and
consumer studhes that will evaluate reductions
n calone intake as part of a weight management
programme 1n the general population, and

15 the final stage prior to submussion for
regulatory approval Stage 4 and 5 achvities
comprise registration and launch respectively

As part of the agreement, Urlever 15 commutted
to fully funding the development programme
In addition, Phytopharm will receive an
undisclosed royalty on sales of all products
contaiming the extract

Separately, Uniever 1s also managing the
agronomy programme, including scale up
for launch, undertalang manufactunng and
market research activihes, and supporting
the internahonal patent programme for

the products

Extracts of Hoodia and the active molecules
therein are the subject of a global patenting
programme, with major patents granted 11 the
US, UK, Europe and Japan and pending 1n all
other major terntones

Phytopharm and Unilever have become aware
of many companies that are selling products
over the Internet and in some stores daiming
to contain Hooda and causing weight loss
Analysis of these products has demonstrated
that the great majonty of them contain httle or
no Hooda

Phytopharm and Umnilever have made contact
with the relevant authorihes concerming this
development and are satsfied with the
progress being made to it thus acuwity

$2.3 billion
US market for weight management
products 1n 2002
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Functional foods continued

Canine skin health

Carune dermatological disorders are well
recognised by vetennarans to be a major
problem, with an estimated 15% of the UK
dog population faround goo,000 dogs)
affected by skin conditions (Source Ammal
Pharm) Mamntenance of a healthy skin and
coat and allewation of itching are of major
importance to camne general health and
quality of hfe

Mode of action

Phytopica® is a natural, three plant product
for camine skin health that provides a novel
three in one approach to help maintain

a normal healthy immune system, support
normal white cell function and provide
anthoxidant benefits The beneficial effects
and excellent safety profile of Phytopica®
have been proven extensively in chrucal tnals

Progress to date

In January 2006, Phytopharm entered mto
an exclusive global agreement with Schenng-
Plough Animal Health (‘Schenng-Plough)
for Phytopica® Under the terms of the
agreement, Phytopharm 1s responsible for
manufactunng Phytopica® whilst Schenng-
Plough 1s responsible for the global sales,
marketing and distnbution In Apnl 2006,
Schenng-Plough launched Phytopica® in the
UK and the product has enjoyed firm support
from veterinary dermatologists, with sales
exceeding expectations

Schenng Plough launched Phytopica® in
Italy and France in March and Apn! 2007,
respectively France is one of the largest
compamon amimal markets in Europe with
more than 8 5 mllion dogs and, of these,
some 15% referred to vetennanans may be

Schening-Plough wall continue to seek to
market and dismbute Phytopica® in further
countries worldwide Wth Schenng-Plough's
global presence we look forward to strong
growth from thus product

Memory and concentration
There 1s growing mterest in functional foods
for memory and concentrahon PYM60086
has been selected from a hbrary of compounds
denived from Traditonal Chinese Mediane
(TCM) licensed from the Beyng Insttute
{Institute of Radiatton Mediaine, the Academy
of Mihtary Medical Saiences, Benjing)
Preclinical studies suggest that PYM60086
may help to reverse normal age related memory

loss and improve concentration

Mode of achon
PYM60086 15 an extract of a TCM used as

and the product has been found to be suitable  affected by skin conditions toruc for the elderly with memory enhancing
for all dogs whatever s1ze or breed properhes Research at the Beyjing Institute
has shown that in prechmcal studies
PYMG0086 increases blood flow to the bramn,
has antioxidant and ant-inflammatory
Phytopica 900,000

Launched in UK, Italy and France
with 103% growth in sales

An estimated 15% of the UK dog
population (around goo,000 dogs)
affected by skin conditions
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properties and 15 a neurotrophic factor rmilestone payments to The Beying Insttute
inducer When administered orally to several upon the achievement of certain pre-defined
prechnical medels, PYM60086 improves goals The Beijing Institute’s scientists bring
memory and learming sigmficant knowledge on TCM and we look

forward to workang with them to advance the
Progress to date lead product through chmical development
In July 2007, we licensed a novel funchonal
food candidate for memory and concentration
from The Beying Insttute Under the terms
of the Collaborauon and Licence Agreement,
Phytopharm and The Beipng Institute
will collaborate to progress The Benjing
Institute’s lead product for memory and
concentration (PYMG60086) ,

Phytopharm will develop thus lead product
through further prechimcal testing and
progress into chmeal tnals The collaborahon
and Licence Agreement also extends to certain
other patented compounds that may have
utihty in other disease areas ncluchng vascular
disorders and stroke Phytopharmm has been
granted an exclusive hcence from The Benng
Institute to develop and commerciahse these
products globally in return for royalty and

PYMGoo86

Novel funchional food in-hicensed
from the Beiing Institute

The global value of functional foods
18 estimated to be up to $65bn

The growth potential 1s predicted to
be 50% from 2005 to 2010 with an
accelerating trend for new products




18 Phytopharm plc

Financial review

Report and accounts 2007
Finanaal review

The financial performance for the 13 month
penod ended 30 September 2007 reflects the
Grouy's ongoing pharmaceutical development
and functional food activities

Penod end

Dunng the pertod the Group changed its
finanaal year end to 30 September 2007 for
admurustrative reasons The finanaal results
for the pertod therefore compnse 13 months
of trading for the peniod ended 30 September
2007, results for the comparative penod
compnse trading for the 12 months ended

31 August zoob

Income statement

The increased revenue of £3 12 mullion for
the 13 month penod (12 months 2006

£1 88 milhion) was generated from our two
collaboration agreements firstly with Umlever
for the development of Hoodia extract for
dietary weight management, and secondly
with Schering-Plough for the global sales,
marketing and distnbution of Phytopica® for
carune skin health Revenue from Umlever
represents rexmbursement to the Group of
development expenditure relating to the
Hoodia extract programme, together with

funding of certain Phytopharm staff, and
therefore the level of revenue 1n each pertod
depends on the nature of the ongoing actimties
and level of related expenditure at that
particular tme Revenue from Schenng-Plough
comprises the sale of Phytomca® by Phytopharm
to Schenng-Plough for onward distnbution and
eventual sale to end users Of the revenue 1n the
penod to 30 September 2007, £2 64 mithion
represents revenue from Unilever, and

£o 48 million represents product sales to
Schening-Plough (103% growth on an annuahsed
basis), for the corresponding 12 month penod
to 31 August 2000 revenue amounted to

£1 66 milhion and product sales amounted

to fo 22 milkon

Expenditure on development has continued as
planned for the 13 months ended 30 September
2007 Atotal of £7 50 million was spent during
the 13 month penod, compared to £6 54 milhon
for the 12 months ended 31 August 2006

The Hoodwus extract programme for dietary
weight management contnues to make
encouraging progress, with the imitiation of
Stage 3 achvittes of the five Stage Unilever
Development and Launch Agreement. Stage 3
1s the final stage prior to registration and

commeraal launch of the product. Unilever
continues to make substantal further
nvestment m this project, independently
of the funding 1t pays to Phytopharm

Expenditure on selhng, general and
administrative expenses for the 13 months
ended 30 September 2007 rose slightly to
£192 milhon from £1 63 milhon for the 12
months ended 31 August 2006

Interest recervable for the 13 months ended

30 September 2007 amounted to £o 22 rmihon,
compared to £o 38 million for the year to

11 August 2006, reflecting the lower average
cash balance dunng the pertod

The reduced overall operating loss for the

13 month pened to 30 September 2007 was
£6 55 mullion compared to £6 62 million for
the 12 month penod to 31 August 2006

The loss after tax for the 13 month penod to
30 September 2007 was shightly higher at

£5 8 milhon from f5 64 mullion for the 12
months ended 31 August 2006, although on
a pro rata basis, the overall loss ran ata lower
level than in the previous financial penod




19 Phytopharm plc

Balance sheet

Non-current assets comprise property, plant
and equipment At 36 September 2007 these
amounted to fo 20 million compared to

£o 20 mllon at 31 August 2006

Current assets amounted to £3 95 milhon at
30 September zoo7 and compnsed inventones
of £fo 68 milhon, amounts recewvable of

£1 03 muhon (of which fo 52 millon related
to R&D tax creduts), and cash resources of

£2 24 milhon Inventones fell shightly in the
13 months ended 30 September 2007 as the
Group manufactured and sold through further
finished stocks of Phytopica® to support the
launches 1n Italy and France i March and
Apnl 2007 respectively Amounts recervable
excluding R&D tax creduts at £o 52 million at
30 September zoo7 are broadly in hne with
previous levels of £o 57 mullion at 31 August
2006 The level of R&D tax credit recervable
by the Group, at fo 52 million, 15 slightly lower
than the previous penod of fo 6o millen at
31 August 2006, reflechng the fact that during
the penod a mgher proportion of the Group's
R&D activities have been related to the Hoodia
extract programme which, because 1t 1s fully
reimbursed by Umlever, does not quahfy for

Report and accounts 2007
Finanaal review

R&D tax credits Cash resources, described

as cash and cash equivalents, are nvested for
penods of go days or less The decrease in cash
resources during the penod to £2 24 mallion
reflects the cash utthsed in the business dunng
the pertod

Current habihties at 3o September 2007 have
reduced to £1 35 milhion from £1 74 mullion
at 31 August 2000 reflecting a reduction 1n
trade payables and accruals for chimeal tnal
expenditure relating to the Group's
development activities

The increase on Share Capital and Share
Premium accounts for the period ended

30 September 2007 reflects the 1ssue of new
shares for cash on 1 March 2007, to raise

£1 68 mllion (£1 53 muillion net of expenses)
and the recovery of VAT of fo o4 million
previously written off against that reserve
followng a change m HMRC pohcy wath
respect to the Group's May zcos fund raising

Cash flow

The net cash used 1n operating activities for
the 13 months ended 30 September 2007 was
£5 46 million, a reduction from £5 & rmllion

in the r2 month penod ended 31 August

2006 Qur goal 15 to increase shareholder
value by progressing our products through
developrnent, subject to available resources
Taking mto account the future revenues from
Phytopica® and the funding by Umlever of the
Hoodsa programme, Phytopharm expects its
2068 netcash outflow, funded from available
resources, to be lower than m previous years
Cash outflows 1n respect of Cogane™, and the
rate of its development, may be favourably
mpacted through the funding by chantable
organisatwns, as discussed above, and likewnse
any future partnenng arrangements in respect
of Myogane™ would bnng similar benefits

By delivenng on our strategic objectives,

we look forward wath confidence to bulding
on our achievernents and reporting on the
continued development of our pipeline over
the coming year
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|
Delivering responsibly

To our employees
Phytopharm places considerable value on the

involvement of 1ts employees and seeks to keep
them informed on the Group's business strategy
and objectives to assist them in workang towards
these goals This 15 achieved through formal
and informal meetings where employees have
the opportumty to ask questions as well as
recerve information

Employee training and development
requirements are assessed as part of the
performance appraisal process Additonal
traiming maybe undertaken as required

to provide staff with continuous
professional development

The Group operates an equal opportunities
pohcy Full consideration is given to all job
applicants, irrespective of gender, age, mantal
status, disability, sexuahty, race, colous, religion,
pohtical belief, ethmc or national ongin or any
other condihons not refevant to the performance
of the job, who can demonstrate that they have
the necessary skills and abihties

Phytopharm 15 commutted to health and safety,
has well-developed health and safety policzes and
procedures to safeguard all of its employees,
partners, contractors and visitors The Board
15 aware of 1ts legal and moral obhgations for
health and safety at work and 18 commutted

to preventing acadents and minimising
occupational 11l health

To ethical business practices

As a semi-vartual company, Phytopharm has
adopted the key pnnaples of SA8ooco, Soal
Accountability Internationalt's standard that
provides a comprehensive and flexable system

for managng ethical workplace condinons
throughout global supply chains In adopting
these prninaiples Phytopharm addresses the
1ssue of fair treatment to all its employees who
are requured to follow a code of conduct that

mcludes social awareness Phytopharm also
promotes SA8coo standards amongst its
partners, suppliers and contractors worldwide
Assessment of comphance to these principles
and other apphcable regulatory or legal
requirements, 1s through audit and roprovement;
plans are agreed and implemented to raise the
level of comphance where appropnate

By starting with a plant extract that has a lustory
of chmical use Phytopharnts umique approach
reduces the need for lengthy prechmcal tesing
Nevertheless, regulatory authonties worldwide
require that all new medicines must be
subjected to ngorous safety testing 1n prechrncal
models and 1 human chimeal studies before
they are approved for use to protect people from
potentially toxic effects The use of preclimcal
tests to develop medicines 1s the subject of
enormous ethical sensitvity that nghtly
commands a hugh level of public interest
Phytopharm 1s comrmtted to implementing the
three R's - Reducing the number of prechnical
tests used for research, Replacement by
alternative methods whenever possible and
Refinement of the technuques used to ehminate
or reduce suffenng Phytopharm has no
testing facalities itself but uses regulated and
hicensed Contract Research Orgamsahons

and other hicensed nstitutions that comply
with government requirements  Phytopharm
implements robust review processes to ensure
the hughest quahty standards are mamtained

To the environment

Phytopharm recognises that protecting the
environmment 1s a prirmnary corporate responsibihty
and that environmental matters are not just
the responsibility of the Board of Directors,
but also an area m which each employee,
corporate partrier and thurd party contractor
has a contribution to make Phytopharm
therefore encourages all employees, partners
and contractors to operate in an environmentally
responsible manner. Where apprepnate these

requirements have been incorporated into the
Company's standard operating procedures and
the enwvironmental performance of contractors
1s reviewed as part of the audit process It1s
Phytopharrr's policy to undertake reasonable
measures to assess the environmental impact
of its operabions, processes and products and
the Company aims to continuously improve
environmental performance and complhance
within these areas

Biodiversity Treaty

Phytopharm's policy 15 to embrace the prinaiples
of the Intemational Convention on Brodiversity
and address the challenging 1ssues 1t presents
The Group endeavours to enter into commeraal
arrangements with organisations and
companies in third world countnes that bnng
finanaal and technology transfer rewards to the
onginating country ot inventor These financial
rewards may take the form of milestone
payments or royalty shares in successful
products Examples of technology transfer
nclude tramng of farmers to cultate botarucal
raw matenals in accordance with the pninaples
of Good Agncultural Prachce {GAP) and the
installabon of Good Manufacturing Practice
(GMP) comphant facihties and training of
staff responsible for 1ts correct operation

and maintenance

Quality Assurance

As a responsible company, Phytopharm's
products are developed 1n accordance with
recogrused quality gundelines and appropnate
national and international legislation to ensure
the efficacy of the product and the safety of the
consumer. In order to achueve thus, the Company
has adopted the following gundelines

Good Agneultural Practice (GAP)

The principles of GAP are applied to the
cultivation and post-harvest processing of
botanical raw matenals The Group's GAP
manual and assocated technical documentation
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Environmental responsibility and sustamnability

Wild populations of Hoodia are vulnerable. We only use
cultivated plants and have developed methods which avoid
the use of pesticides and minimise water use in the fragile

conditions of the Kalahari desert
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have been developed with reference to
recogrused codes of practice The manual
provides a framework for cultivation protocols
that are implemented by working wath local
farmers, agronormsts and horticulturahsts

1 the countnes where crops are grown

The cultivation protocols are developed to
combine local practice with the pninaiples of
GAP to ensure a synergy between developing
agncultural systems and western agnicultural
practices Cornphance to the protocols 1s
assessed by the review of crop record sheets
and monitoring visits to the growing sites

Good Laboratory Practie (GLP)

The Group requures that contractors nvelved
the conduct of key non-chinical studies and the
analysis of such studtes apply the appropnate
level of GLP to therr facihities and the conduct
of studies therein These requirements are
detailed in the GLP regulattons Statutory
Instrument 199 No 3106 and they have been
incorporated mto the Company’s quality system.

Comphance is reviewed by routtne momtoring
wisits and for audat, tramming may be provided
to ensure the level of compliance 1s acceptable

Good Manufactuning Practice {GMP)

The Group requires that all contractors directly
managed by Phytopharm and involved 1n the
operational aspects of manufacture, analysis,
packang, labelling, release, storage, distribution of
1ts matenals and products apply the appropnate
levet of GMP to their facihties, as defined
GMP regulation and gutdeline documents

These practices are mandatory requirements
for products designated for use in chmcal tnals
conducted 1in accordance with competent
authonhies’ regulatory requirernents Guudelines
are detailed 1n UK, Eurapean, US and ICH
publications and have been mcorporated into
the Company’s quality system Comphance 1s
routinely momtored by audit and traiming may
be provided to ensure the level of comphance
1s acceptable

Good Chimcal Practice (GCP)

GCP 18 an international ethical and scientific
quality standard for designing, conducting,
recording and reporting studzes that involve
the parhapation of human subjects Studies
conducted in Europe and North America
must have ethical and regulatory approval
prior to imtiaton and comphance wath the
stated protocol 15 independently momtored
and further assessed by audit. These achions
help to provide assurance that the nghts, safety
and wellbeing of study subjects are protected,
consistent with the pnnaples that have their
ongin 1n the Declaration of Helsinki, and
that the chrucal trial data are credible These
requiremnents have been incorporated into the
Group's standard operating procedures and
working documnentation

All seed for the expansion of the
Hoodia agronomy programme 1s
collected from existing cultivations
to ensure we do not put pressure
on wild Heodia populations
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Leading strategically

Top row from left:
Mr Alistair Taylor
Dr Daryl Rees

Mr Piers Morgan

Bottom row from left
Mr Alexander Momson
Dr Peter Blower

t Mr Ahstarr Taylor

Non-Executive Chairman

Mr Taylor 1s formerly Executive Chauman of UK
listed Lombard Medical Technologies plc and has 45
years experience 1h the healthcare industry ten years
in pharmaceuticals and 35 years in medical devices
He was Chief Executive Officer of Biocompatibles
International plc from 1994 to0 1998 and dunng this
period the company progressed from a technology-
based start up company, through flotation to a

FTSE 250 company Pnor to this, Mr Taylor was
Chief Executive Officer of Schneider Ing, a Swiss
nterventional cardiology/radiology device company
and dunng this bme the company’s turnover grew
to $100 milhon Schneider was subsequently sold by
Pfizer Inc., its parent for over $2 billien Mr Taylor's
early career included the Chref Accountant role at
Beecham Pharmaccuticals He 1s also Chairman of
Starbndge Systerns Limuted

Dr Rees has an MSc in Pharmacology and a PhD

tn Chimcal Pharmacology He joined Phytopharm in
June 195 from Umiversity College London whete
he was a senior lecturer in Chintcal Pharmacology
Prior to this Dr Rees gained ten years' expenence in
the discovery and cirucal development of medianes
as a semor saentist at Wellcome and was part of

a multdisaphinary team involved 1n the discovery of
the L-arginene- NO pathway He 13 a former editor of
the British Journal of Pharmacology and 1s Chairman
of an accredited Research Ethics Committee

3 Mr Prers Morgan

Chief Finanaal Officer

Mr Morgan has an MA 1n Law and Management
Studies from Cambndge University and 1s a Chartered
Accountant. He worked at Close Brothers Corporate
Finance on a wide vanety of equity capital market
and mergers and acquusibons transachions and was
a founding director of the Life Sciences Mergers &
Acquisitions team at Emst & Young In 2000, he
joined Arrow Therapeutics Limted (acquured by
AstraZeneca for $150m) as Finance Director raising
sigmficant finance through private equuty debt and
grants In 2005, he moved to Pans to become Chuef’
Finanaal Gfficer of BioAlliance Pharma SA where
he led the successful flotation of the company on
Euronext Pans

4 Mr Aleander Momson

Non-Executive Director

Mr Mornson has a BSc (Hons) tn apphed chermistry
{Strathclyde) and has over 20 years expenence in
general and international management, global supply
chain and RED He was Cluef Executive Officer of
Lipton Ltd the global tea sourcing organizahon for

Unilever with operations in six countnes from zo00
to 2006 Duning Mr Mornsors penod as CEO,
substantial operational and financial improvements
were made to the Unilever global tea supply chain and
he also played a sigmificant part 1n addressing 1ssues
n the internatonal tea trade In the immediate years
prior to 2000, Mr Mornson had senior international
food and beverage roles for Unnlever outside the UX
tn the supply chain and 1n R&D, both at the Rotterdam
head office and 1n the Unilever food and beverage
subsidiary 1n Anstralia

5 Dr Petet Blower

Non-Executive Director

Dr Blower has over 30 years expenience in medicinal
research and development wath a strong background
n the ficld of neuroscience He joined Beecham
Research Laboratonies i 196G and rase to the position
of Durector of New Neurescence products in 1996
before leaving 1n 2000 to form his own consultancy
company He has been elected to Fellowship of the
Royal Seoety of Mediane and the Institute of Biology
and has authored over 50 scientific publications

He has a M [ Biol from the Insttute of Brology
(1972) a PhD in Pharmacology from the University
of Aston {1977)and a DSc from the Umversity of
East London (1997}
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Directors’ report
for the thirteen month period ended 30 September 2007

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements and auditors report for the thirteen month penod ended 30 September 2007

Principal actraities
Phytopharm is a pharmaceutical development and functionat food company whose products are generated from medicinal plants.

Rewview of the business and future developments

The Group 1s required to set out Inthis Directors report a fair review of the business of the Group and a description of the pnncipat nsks and uncertainties
facing the Group [known asa Business Review | The Business Review 1s required to set out a balanced and comprehensive analysis of the development
and performance of the Group s business during the thirteen month penod ended 30 September 2007 and of the position of the Group at the end of that
financial penod The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business Review can, in addition to that set out below, be found on pages 100 19

The Directors are satisfied wath the progress made across the product portfolio and with the period end position

Prinapal nsks and uncertainties

Industry risk

In common with other research and development stage businesses, Phytopharm s business nsks relate principally to the success of its development
prograrmrmes and to the need to fund its operations through these The progress of the developrment programmes therefore represents the best indicator
of the Group s performance and a full review of the programmes is given in the Business Review on pages 10to 19

Financial nsk

The Group has one product, Phytopica®, on the market. However the revenues currently being generated by this programme are not yet sufficent to
affset the Companys research and development expenditure, and the Group expects to continue to make losses until it is able to increase ts revenues
sufficiently This may require commercialisation of addiienal products. Until this can be achieved the Group may remain dependant on the continuing
support of its Investors.

Clinical and requlatory rnisk

Successful commereiatisation of the Group s products is likety to depend on continuing successful progress through cinical and consumer studies,
and registration as applicable Development of product candidates involves a lengthy and complex process, and products may not mest the necessary
requirements in terms of toxsaty, efficacy or safety, or the relevant regulators may not agree with the results of the Groups research and may require
further testing or withhold approval altogether

Competition nsk

The Group s success depends on acceptance of the Group s products by the markets, including physicians and therd party payers, and consequently the
Group s progress may be adversely affected if it is unable to achieve market acceptance of its products. Factors which may affect the rate and level of
market acceptance of any of the Group's products will include the existence or entry on to the market of supenor competing products or theraptes and
the pnee of the Groups products compared to competing products.

Intellectual property nsk

The Group s success depends in part on its ability to obtain and maintain protection for s intellectual and propnetary information, so that it can stop others
from making, using or selling its inventions or propnetary nghts. The Group s patent applications may not be granted and its existing patent nghts may
be successfully challenged and revoked

Economic risk

As a consequence of the international nature of its business, the Group 1s exposed to nisks assocated with changes in foreign currency rates. The Group
15 headquartered in the United Kingdom, and substantiatly all its cash resources are in pounds sterling An adverse change in exchange rates may lead
to erther an increase in certain of the Group s costs or a decrease in the pounds sterling value of its revenues, and hence a significant impact on the
Groups reposted results of operations, financial position and cash flow
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Counterparty nsk
The Group relies on third party organisations to conduct ts chnical tnals and to manufacture its products. If the relationship with or performance of any
of these partners is adversely affected the Group s results of operations may be adversely impacted

The Group also derves revenue or finanaal support from its collaborators and expects to derve additional support frem partnenng with certain chartable
organisations. If these relationships are adversely affected, or if the products involved fail to continue to make satisfactory progress, the Group s results of
operations may be adversely Impacted

Post balance shect events
There are no post balance sheet events of significance

Results and Omdends
The Group s resuits for the penod ended 30 Septerber 2007 are presented on page 44. The Group s netloss after taxationwas £5,813,249 (2006 £5,438,613)
The Group s not yet in a posttion to pay a dvidend and the loss for both penods has been added to the accurnutated deficit on reserves.

Group research and development actvities
The Group continues to develop pharmaceutical products and functional foeds from product leads generated from medicinal plants

Directors
The Directors of the Company, all of whom have been Directors for the whole of the period except as noted below, are as follows

Executive Directors

Dr B DRees ~ Chief Executive

Mr P JMorgan - Chief Financial Officer fappointed ¢ January 2007)
Dr R P Dixeyiresigned 31 January 2007)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr A H Taylor - Non-Executive Chairman [appointed 18 Juty 2007)
Mr A D Mornson = Senior Independent Director

Dr P R Blower

Dr P MWhitney {resigned 18 July 2607)

Mr G K G Stevens [resigned S Septernber 2004)

Dr T H Flanagan Iresigned 5 September 2006}

Company Secretary
Mrs Z K McGowan

Biographteal details of the current Directors are shown on page 23.

There were no contracts of significance with the Company or any of its subsidianes subsisting during or at the end of the financial penod in which
a Dwector of the Company was matenally interested

The interests of Directors in the shares and share options of the Company at 30 September 2007 are disclosed in the report of the Boand on remuneration
on pages Ato 36
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Substantial shareheldings
The Directors have been adwvised of the following substantial holdings as at 19 December 2007 i the Company s 1ssued share capital

Name of shareholder % holding
Materalinterest

Invesco Perpetual Investment Series 1477
Chakra Ltd 14 26
AXAS.A 600
Henderson Global Investors 5 64

Non-material interest

Amvescap plc 2694

The matenal holding by Invesco Perpetual Investment Sertes is included wathin the non-material holding by Amvescap plc

Save for the above, the Company has not been notified, as at 19 December 2007 of any matenial interest of 3% or more or any Non-materal nterest
exceeding 10% of the 1ssued share capital of the Company

Authorriy to purchase shares

Atthe Company s Annual General Meeting held on 27 March 2007, shareholders approved authonty, for the purposes of Section 146 of the Companies
Act 1985 (the Act), to make market purchases [within the meaning of Section 163(3) of the Act} of any of its ordinary shares of 1p each in the capital

of the Company on such terms and in such manner as the Directors may from time to tirme deterrmine, and where such shares are held as treasury
shares, the Company may use them for the purposes of its employee share scheme provded that

(@) the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be purchased 15 5,540,431, representing approximately 10% of the erdinary share capital 1ssued
at the date of the meeting,

{bl the minimurm price which may be paid for each ordinary share is 1p which shall be exclusive of all expenses, f any,

le) the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share 1s an amount equal to 105% of the average middle market quotations for the ordinary
shares of the Company as derved from the Official List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the five business days immedately preceding the day
on which such share 1s contracted to be purchased,

(d] unless previousty renewed, revoked or varied this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting in 2008, and

le) under this authonty the Comnpany may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares which would or right be executed wholly or partly after the
expiry of this authority, and may make purchases of ordinary shares pursuant to it as if this authenty had not expired

As at 30 Septemnber 2007 this authonty had not been utiised
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Creditor payment policy
The Group s current policy concerning the payment of the majontty of its trade creditors is to follow the CBl s Prompt Payers Code [copies are avalable
from the CB), Centre Point, 103 New Oxford Street, London WC1A 1DU) Fer other suppliers, the Group s policy 1sto

la) agree the terms of payment with those suppliers when negotiating the terms of each transaction,
(b] ensure that those suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment by inclusion of the relevant termsin contracts, and
lc) payinaccordance with its contractual and other legal oblgations

The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services wathout exception The average credit penod
(expressed as creditor days) taken durning the penod was 21 days {2006 38 days] for the Group and nd days for the Camnpany in bath penods. The average
credit penod Is calculated using purchases for the penod and the closing trade creditors figure

Employees
The Board of Directors 1s comrritted to continuing commurication and involverment wath all the Group s employees Further details of the Group s policies
towards its employees are given in the corporate social responsibility review on pages 20to 22

Health and Safety
The Directors are commutted to ensunng the highest standards of health and safety Further details of the Group s policies towards its employees are
given in the Corporate Social Responsibility review on pages 20to 22,

Charitable donations
Phytopharm has established a Charity Committee to facilitate chartable donations to community programmes and local chanties. Duning the peried the
Group made chantable donations of £nul (2006 £50)

Financizl nsk management policies
The Group s policies in relation to financial nsk management are descnibed in the financial revew on pages 18to 19 and in note 19 to the financal statements.

Statemnent of Directors’ responsibilibes
The Directors are responsible for prepaning the Annual Report, the Directors Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with the
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financal statements for each financial perod Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group

and parent company financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Uruon
The financial staterments are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company andthe Group and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that penod

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to

» select suitable accounting pobiaies and then apply them consistently,

* makejudgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

* state whether the financial statements compty with IFRSs as adopted by the Eurgpean Union , and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inapproprate to presume that the Group will continue in business, inwhich
case these should be supporting assumptions or qualificatiens as necessary
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Directors’ report
for the thirteen month period ended 30 September 2007

The Directors confirm that they have complied wath the above requirements in prepanng the financial statements.

The Directors are responstble for keeping praper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the finanaial position of the
Compary and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financal statements and the Directors Remuneration Report comply with the Comparnies
Act 1985 and, as regards the Group finanaal statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safequarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other iIreqularives.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Group s website and legistation in the United Kingdomn goverming the preparation
and dissernination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions.

Audit Information
In the case of each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date when this report 1s approved

= sofar as each of the Directors 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 1985} ofwhich the Companys
auditors are unaware, and

= eachof the Directors has taken all steps that he ought to have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit nformation las
defined) and to establish that the Companys auditors are aware of that iInformation

This confirmation is given and should be Interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s243ZA of the Companies Act 1985

Auditors
Aresolution to reappoint PrcewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the Company wall be propesed at the next annual general meeting

DrDDRees
Chief Executive
19 December 2007




29 Phytopharm plc Report and accounts zooy
Remuneration report

Remuneration report
of the Board of Directors

Thus report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors Remuneration Regulations 2002 which intreduced statutory requirements for the
disclosure of Directors remuneration in respect of penods ending on or after 31 December 2002 of the UK Listing Authonty and describes how the Board
has appled the principles of the Combined Code published in June 2004 relating to Directors remuneration. A resolution to approve this repert wall be
proposed to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in 2008

The regulations require the auditors to report to the Company s members on certain parts of the Directors remuneration report and to state whether in
their opinion those parts of the report have been property prepared in accordance wath the Companies Act las amended by the Regulations] The repart
has therefore been dwded into separate sections for audited and unaudited information

Unaudited information

Remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee [ the Committee 115 comprised exclusively of independent Non-Executve Directors The Directors who have served on
the Committee during the period are as follows

Or P R Blower (Chairman] [appointed 5 September 2004}
Mr A D Mormson [appoirited 5 September 2006)

Mr A H Taylor [appointed 18 July 2007}

Dr P MWhitney [resigned 18 July 2007]

Mr G K G Stevens [resigned 5 Septernber 2006}

Cr T H Flanagan [resigned 5 September 2008)

The Committee decides the remuneration policy that applies to Executive Directors and all of the Group s employeesincluding other senior management,
This comprises the setting of salanes for the Executive Directors, the setting of salary scales for other employees, approving the format and range of all
performance-related arrangements (both annual and long term equity incentive arrangements), and deterrmining the extent to which the elements of
vanabte pay vest.

To assist the Committee in establishing #ts policy the Group has retained the services of New Bridge Street Consultants, who are experts in advising
on remuneration in the biotech industry The Chief Executive 15 invited to attend the Committee meetings te make recommendations on compensation
levels for employees.

During the period ended 30 September 2007 the Committee met six times and there was full attendance at each meeting except for one occasion as

noted on page 38

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors each recesve a fee for their services, which is agreed by the Board following recornmendation by the Committee in respect
of the Chairman and by the Chairman in respect of the other Non-Executive Directors with the assistance of independent advice, where necessary,
concerning comnparable organisations and appointrments.

Nerther the Chairman nor the other Non-Executive Directors receve anty pension or other benefits from the Company
Remuneration policy for Execytive Directors
The Company s rermuneration policy for Executive Directors s to

= have regard to the Directors expenence and the nature and complextty of therwork, and regard to Directors remuneration in comparable comparnies,
in order to pay a competitive salary, including a perforrmance related cash bonus that attracts and retains management of the highest quality,

» linkindmdual remuneration packages to the Group s long-term perfermance through the award of share optionsvia the Phytopharm Share Option
Plan 2007 and the Phytopharm Long Tesm Incentive Plan 2007, and

» provde post retirement benefits through the Group s pension schemes.
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Remuneration report
of the Board of Directors continued

Consistent with the above policy, compensation awarded to Executve Directors compnises four main performance and non-performance related elements
+ basic salaryand bonuses,

*  benefits inkind,

« share options and performance share awards awarded by reference to annual performance), and

* pension arrangements.

Basic salary
The Committee sets the annual salanes for Executive Directors, having regard to personal performance and responsibilities of each Director and their
expected future contnbution,

Share schemes

The Group operates incentve schemes to assist in aftracting and retaining high calibre employees and to focus the performance of sentor Executives on
creating long-term sharehalder value The awards toindwiduals are bnked to the performance targets of the Group and the indvdual. The Group targets
and those for Executive Directors are approved by the Board

Duning the penod the Remuneration Committee revewed the effectiveness and appropnateness of the existing long-term incentive and share option
schemes, As a result of this review, new incentive arrangements were approved by shareholders at a general meeting in June 2007 Subseqguentty,
employees and Executve Directors surrendered existing options and recerved grants under the new arrangerments. The previous schemes have been
retained to allow former employees under “good leaver status to retain their options for the perods agreed by the Remuneration Committee Detalls
of the numbers of ophions outstanding and the remaining exercise penods are shown in note 22, No further grants of options will be made under these
schemes.

The total number of unissued Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company which may be placed under option on any day under the Phytopharm share
option schemes may not exceed, when added to the aggregate number of shares that have been or may be iIssued pursuant te nghts granted for the
past tenyears, 10 per cent of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the Company immaediately prior to that day

Share opticn schemes

Share options are granted under the Phytopharm Share Option Plan 2007 and the Phytopharm Sharesave Plan 2007, which are openito all employees.
The Phytopharm Share Option Plan 2007 complies with the tax favoured Enterpnse Management Incentive L_egrslation Where passible the Company
will grant tax advantaged options. The Remuneration Committee determines the level of awards. To provde maximurn flexibility, the Committee has
discretion to make awards up to an annual £00% of salary indmdual bmit although the Committee would only envisage making an award at such a level
Invery exceptional arcumstances. Performance share awards will normally vest three years after the date of grant subject to continued employment
and the extent to which a performance target has been satisfied The actual grants made in the penod were significantly lower than this Uit and are
specified for each Executive Director in the table on page 34

The vesting of a share option wall depend on total shareholder return [ ‘TSR ] performance conditions being met. The Company s TSR wall be compared
tothat of the companies making up the FTSE Small Cap Index at or within three moniths of the vesting date No option or award can be exercised for
below median performance

The Committee considers TSR to be the mest appropnate method of measuning performance at this stage of the Group s development where income
streams have not stabilised and the Group has not yet made a profit. The Committee seeks independent verification of the TSR condiions before
confirrming that a share option has vested

The Phytopharm Sharesave Plan 2007 1s an HMRC approved scheme and the first offer was made to employees and Executve Directors on 13 August
2007 and vests on 30 September 2010
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Long-term incentives

The Group cperates the Phytopharm Long Term Incentive Plan 2007 under which performance share awards can be made to selected senior managers
of the Company and its subsidianes. The Committee determines the level of awards to provide maximum flexbilty The Commuttee has discretion to make
awards up to an annual 400% of salary indwdual bmit although the Committee would only ermsage makang an award at such a level in very exceptional
circumstances. Performance share awards will normally vest three years after the date of grant subject to conttnued employment and the extent to
which a performance target has been satisfied The actual grants made in the penod were significantly lower than this Uit and are spearfied for each
Executrve Director in the table on page 36

The Committee s policy 1s that the same TSR performance condition as descnbed above for share options will apply to the vesting of performance share
awards, This is for the same reasons as given above The relevant distinction s that the grant of share options depends on annual performance whereas
it 15 ermsaged that performance share awards will be granted each penod in order to ensure that there1s a continual and matenal long term incentive
element to the Executives remuneration packages

Share purchase Scheme
The Group operates the Phytopharm Share Incentve Plan 2007 whuich wall previde miatching shares to employees on a one for one basis. This scheme
was not active In the period to 30 September 2007

Pensions
All the Executive Directors have money purchase pension schemes to which the Group contnbutes 16% [8% for the penod to 30 June 2007) of basic salary

Fees retained for Non-Executrve Directorships in other companes

The Commuttee recogrised that Executve Directors may be imated to take up Non-Executve Directorships and that these can broaden the expenence and
knowledge of the Director, from which the Company would benefit. Accordingly, subject to Board approval, they may accept Non-Executive appointments,
as long as they are not Likely to lead to a conflict of interest. They are also allowed to retain any fees paid under such appointments.

Performance graph

The following shows the Company s performance, measured by total shareholder return compared with the performance of the FTSE SmallCap Index
also measured by total shareholder return Total shareholder return tooks at the value at 30 September 2007 of £100 invested in the Company on

1 Septernber 2002 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE SmallCap Index over the same penod Thisindex has been selected for this
companson because, inthe opinion of the Directors, it is the most appropnate Index against which the tetal shareholder return of the Company should
be measured

The graph looks at the value by 10 September 2007 of £100 invested t Phytopharm on 1 September 2007 compared with the value of £100 mvested in the FTSE Small Cap Index
The ather points plotted are the values at intervening financial year-ends
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Remuneration report
of the Board of Directors continued

Executive Directors’ contracts
It 1s the Group s policy that Executive Directors should have contracts wath an indefinite term but which prowde for a maxsmum penod of notice to be
served by the Company or by the Director The details of the Directors contracts are summarnsad in the table below

Date of Notice

Contract pericd

Dr DD Rees 22 September 2000 & months
Mr P J Morgan 9 January 2007 4 months

Inthe event of termination, the Executive Directors contracts provide for compensation up to a maximum of basic salary for the notice penod

Non-Executive Directors’ contracts
The terms of service for Non-Executive Directors are specified in letters of appointment. Currently appointments are for a period of 12 months, which may
be renewed, and are summansed in the table below

Date of Notice

Contract period

Mr AH Taytor 18 July 2007 3 months
Mr A D Morrisen 1 June 2007 3Imonths
Dr PR Blower 21 July 2607 3Imonths

In addition, one thurd of all Directors are required under the Articles of Association to resign and offer themselves for re-election at each annual
general meeting

Directors’ interests in shares
The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company at 30 Septerber 2007 and 31 August 2006 {or date of appointrment] were

Ordinary shares of 1 pence

30 Septermber 2007 31 August 2006

Dr P R Blower 9,494 -
Dr R P Dixey" - 543,964
Mr P J Morgan 18,989 -
Mr A D Mornison 9,494 -
Dr DD Rees 18,989 -
Mr A H Taylor® - -
Dr P M Whitney™ - -

All Directors interests are beneficially held

&) Dr R P Drxey resigned on 31 January 2007
[n) Mr A H Taytor was appotnted on 18 Juty 2007
[u) Dr P M Whatney resigned on 18 July 2007

Apart from the interests disclosed above no Directors were interested at any time during the periodin the share capital of the Company or other
Group companies.
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Directors’ detailed emoluments and compensation
Details of indmdual Directors emoluments for the pered are as follows

2007 2005
Compensaticn Total Total
Salary for loss Monetary value excluding Pension excluding Pension
Executive & fee; of offlcz Bonu: of beneflt‘s: pensu:mz conmbuuon: pensmné cor\tnbutlonz
Dr DD Rees 181,401 - 77,000 146,778 275,179 14,029 215,734 11,499
Mr P J Morgan! 91,954 - 48,125 15,378 155,457 9,854 - -
Or R P Dixey" 78,850 37,109 - 2,158 125,117 185,308 485,067 14,899
Dr G W Chong™ - - - - - - 80,813 2,459
352,205 37,109 125,125 41,314 555,753 210,193 781,614 28,857
Non-executive

Mr A H Taytor™ 7174 - - - 7174 - - -
Mr A D Mornisen 25,833 - - 472 26,305 - 5,156 -
Dr P R Blower 25,833 - - 318 26,151 - 2,203 -
Dr P W Whitney" 29,497 - - - 29,497 - 20,000 -
Mr G K G Stevens 345 - - - 345 - 30,000 -
Dr T H Flanagan™! 230 - - - 230 - 20,000 -
88,912 - - 790 89,702 - 77,369 -
Total 441,117 37,109 125,125 42,104 845,455 210,193 858,973 28,857

0} From % January 2007

[0} From t September 2006 to 31 January 2007
) From ¥ Septernber 2005 to 2 December 2005

I~ From 18 July 2007
W From 1 September 2006 to 18 Juty 2007

fwl  From 1 September 2006 to 5 September 2006
fvi]  From 1 September 2006 to 5 September 2006

The Directors receive certain benefits inkind The benefits provided to the Chief Executive are the provsion of a fully expensed company car, Ufe msurance
and private medicalinsurance The benefits provided to the Chief Financial Officer are the provision of a car allowance, life assurance and permanent

health insurance

No Directors wanved emoluments in the financial pertod ended 30 September 2007 (2006 nil)

There were no gains made by indvidual Directors from the exercise of share options for the period ended 30 Septerber 2007 (2006 il
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Directors’ interest in share options

Details of options over shares of the Company held by Directors, alt of which have been granted at no cost to the Directors, are set out below-

Number  Number
of options  of optons  Number  Number
Al surrendered granted of aptions of options At Date from
3t August dunng dunng exercised lapsed in 30 September Exercise which Expiry
2006 theyear  theyear intheyear theyear 2007 Note* price exercisable date
Dr D D Rees 13,043 13,043 - - - - la £230 24 June 2002 23 June 2009
10,000 - - - 10,000 - tb €387 150December 2002 14 December 2006
10,000 - - - 10,000 - 2b £387 15December 2002 14 December 2006
20,000 - - - 20,000 - 3 €389 15December 2004 14 December 2006
5,704 5,704 - - - - 1b £4575 7December 2003 & December 2007
5,703 5.703 - - - - 2b £4575 7 December 2003 & December 2007
11,406 11,406 - - - - 3 £4575 7 December 2005 6 December 2007
7,500 7.500 - - - - b E460 2 August 2004 1 August 2008
7,500 7,500 - - - - 2b E460 2 August 2004 1 August 2008
15,000 15,000 - - - - 3 €460 2 August 2006 1 August 2008
13,215 13,215 - - - - 1b £4775 21 May 2005 20 May 2009
13,214 13,214 - - - = 2b £4775 21 May 2005 20 May 2009
26,430 26,430 - - - - 3 E4775 21 May 2007 20 May 2009
33342 33,342 - - - - 4b £1425 2 May 2006 1 May 2013
10,582 10,582 - - - = 4b £2125 9 December 2006 8 December 2013
51,722 51,722 - - - = 4e £2125 9 December 2006 8Decernber 2013
20,000 20,000 - - - - 4o £185 5 May 2007 4 May 2014
400,000 400,000 - - - - 4c £0545 14 December 2008 13 December 2015
25,844 25,864 - - - - 4o £056 8 May 2009 7 May 2016
- - 52,724 - 52,724 = 4c £04675 8 November 2009 7 November 2016
- - 350,000 - - 350,000 6  E045 ¥ January 2010 8 January 2017
- - 712949 - - 712,949 7 0445 3 August 2009 2 August 2017
- - 19,585 - - 19,585 10 £0 4825 1 October 2010 31 March 2011
700,225 660,225 1,135,258 - 92,724 1,082,534
Mr P J Morgan - - 250,000 - - 250,000 6 E04S 9 January 2010 8 January 2017
- - 19,585 - - 19,585 10 £04825 1 October 2010 31 March 2011
- - 249,585 - - 269,585

*Further details of the terms of the share option schemes are contained in note 22 to the iinancial statements under the note reference in the above table

Dunng the pertod the Remuneration Commitiee reviewed the effectiveniess and appropnateness of the exsting long-term incentive and share option
schemes. As a result of this review, new incentve arrangements were approved by Shareholders at a general meeting in June 2007 Subsequently the
Executive Directors surrendered existing options and receved grants under the new arrangements.
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Number ~ Number
of options  ofoptions  Number  Number
At surrendered granted of options of options At Date from
31 August duning during exercised lapsed in 30 September Exercise whach Expiry
2006 theyear  theyear intheyear theyear 2007 Note* price exercisable date
Dr R P Dixey” 8,564 - - - 8564 - 1b  £389 15Decemher 2002 14 December 2006
8,563 - - - 8563 - 2b  £387 15December 2002 14 December 2006
17127 - - - 17427 - 3  £389 150ecember 2004 14 December 2006
8,555 - - - 8,585 - 1h £6575 7 December 2003 & December 2007
8,555 - - - 85565 - 2b £6575 7 December 2003 é December 2007
17.110 - - - 170 - 3 £4575 7 December 2005 6 December 2007
9.8146 - - - 9814 - 1b £4775 7 December 2004 6 December 2008
9,817 - - - 9817 - 2b £4775 7 December 2004 6 December 2008
19.634 - - - 19634 - 3 £4775  7December 2006 6 December 2008
24,746 - - - 24746 - 1b £1165 6 December 2005 5 December 2009
24,745 - - ~ 24,745 - 2b £1165 6 December 2005 5 December 2007
49,490 - - - 49,490 - 3 £1165 é December 2007 5 December 2009
48,649 - - - 48,649 - 4b £1425 2 May 2006 1 May 2013
14,435 - - - 14435 - 4b £2125 9 December 2006 8 December 2013
36,814 - - - 36814 - 4c £2125 9 Cecember 2006 8 December 2013
20,000 - - - 20,600 - 4 £185 5 May 2007 4 May 2014
35,175 - - - 35175 - 4c £0Ds 8 May 200% 7 May 2016
361,795 - - - 351,795 -
Total 1,062,020 - 1,404,843 - 454519 1,352,11%

*Further details of the terms of the share option schemes are cantained in note 22 to the financial statements under the note reference in the above table
[1) Or R P Dixey left the Group en 31 January 2007 and subsequently his aptions lapsed on 31 July 2007

During the penod the Remuneration Committee revewed the effectveness and appropniateness of the existing long-ierm incentive and share option
schemes, As aresult of this review, new incentive arrangements were approved by Shareholders at a general meeting in June 2007 Subsequently the

Executive Directors surrendered exsting options and receved grants under the new arrangements
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of the Board of Directors continued

Directors’ interests in long-termincentive plans

MNumber Number

of awards of awards MNumber MNumber Market
Atsurrendered awarded of awards of awards At prece at
31 August dunngthe  durng  vested lapsed in 30 September dateof Exercise Date from Expiry
2005 year theyear intheyear theyear 2007 Note* grant price which vesting date
DrDDRees 41463 41,463 - - - - 5 €182 £001 3December 2007 2 June 2608
16,952 14,952 - - - - 5 €126 €001 11 May 2007 10 December 2007
47,610 47,610 - - - - 5 £048 €001 3November 2008 2 May 20609
- - 106,025 - - 106,025 8 €045 €001 3 August 2009 **
- - 90,000 - - 90,000 ? £045 E0M 3 August 2010 '
106,025 106,025 196,025 - - 196,025
Mr P J Morgan - - 65,600 - - 65,000 8 £045 £001 3 August 2010 *
- - 65,000 - - 65,000
Dr R P Dixey" 56,389 - - - 56,389 - 5 £182 £001 3December 2007 2 June 2008
23,058 - - - 23,055 - €126 E0D 11 May 2007 10 December 2007
32,375 - - - 32375 - €048 £001 3 November 2008 2 May 2009
111,819 - - - 111,819 -
Total 217,844 106,025 261,025 - 111,819 261,025

*Further details of the terms of the long term incentve plan are contained in note 22 to the financial staternents under the note reference in the above table
** These shares shall be transferred to the participant at the end of the performance peried to the extent that any performance conditions have been satished
(11 Dr R P Dixey lett the Group on 31 January 2007 and subsequently hus options lapsed on 31 Juty 2007

During the period the Remuneration Committee reviewed the effectveness and appropnateness of the exasting long-term incentive and share option
schemes. As a result of this review, new Incentive arrangements were approved by Shareholders ata general meeting in June 2007 Subsequentty the
Executive Directors surrendered existing options and recenved grants under the new arrangements.

The market pnce of the Company s shares at the end of the finanaal penod was 40 pence (31 August 2006 58 pencel and the range of market pnces

duning the penod was between 38 25 pence and 62.75 pence

Approvat

Thus report was approved by the Board of Directors on 19 December 2007 and signed on its behalf by

DOr P R Blower
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee
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The Combined Code
The Directors are accountable to shareholders for the good corporate governance of the Group and seek to uphold and report on compliance with current
best practice in Corporate Governance

The Directors are satisfied that the Group has complied throughout the penod with the best practice prowisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code on
corporate governance in effect for the financial pened to 30 September 2007 The new Combined Code published in June 2006, becomes effective for
the finanaial penod commenang 1 October 2007 This report together wath the Report of the Board on remuneration sets out the manner inwhich the
Group has applied all the pnnciples contatned iy the 2003 Combined Code

See page 27 for the staternent of Directors responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Directors Remuneration Report and the
finangcal statements,

Compliznce statement
The Board has carned out a review of its corporate governance procedures lincluding internal controts) during the period and 1s pleased to confirm that
the Group has complied throughout the period with the provisians of the Combined Code

The prnaples set out in the Combined Code cover four areas the Board, Directors remuneration, acoountability and audit and relations with shareholders.
With the exception of Directors remuneration fwhich is dealt with separately in the remuneration report] the following section sets out how the Board has
applied such prinaiples.

The Board

The Board is chaired by Mr A H Taylor [appainted 18 July 2007) and met for reqular business nine tmes during the penod under review It was chaired

by Dr P M Whitney eght imes in the penced to 18th July 2007 and by Mr AH Taylor once inthe pertod since 18th July 2007 0f these, apologres for Board
meetings were receved from Mr A D Mornison on 18 July 2007 Otherwise, all meetings were attended by all rnembers. In addition, further meetings are
held when circumstances and urgent business dictate

The Board has agreed a schedule of itemns that are speaifically reserved for its consideration, which 1s reviewed on an annual basis. This schedule includes
business strategy, financing arrangements, materal acquisitions and dvestments, approval of budgets, major capital expenditure projects, nsk
management, treasury poliaes, and establishing and monttoning internal controls. The Board is responsible for the overall direction and strategy of the
Group and for secunng the opbmum performance from Group assets. At each meeting, the Beard reviews strategy and progress of the Group towards
its objectives, parttcularly in respect of research and development projects, and monitors financial progress against budget

The Board of Directors consists of two Executive and three iIndependent Non-Executive Directors. Mr A D Momison is the Sentor Non-Executive Director
Biographies of the Directors are set out on page 23 Details of the Directors shareholdings are shown on page 32

All Directors are required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first Annual General Meeting after appointment and, thereafter, at least
everythree years. Subject to their re-election and Companies Act provisions, the Non-Executive Directors are appoirted for specified terms,

There is clear separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive on terms which have been agreed by the Board and reviewed on an annual basis.
The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the running of the Board, encouraging all Directors to participate fully in discussions wath the aim of reaching
a consensus and ensuning that the Non-Executive Directors are properly brefed on matters. The Chief Executive has respensibility for implementing the
Board s strategy and managing day to day business actvties of the Group with the Executve Directors and senior managers. The Company Secretary,
through the Chairman, is responsible for advsing the Beard on all governance matters,

The Board has agreed procedures to allow indvdual Directors to seek independent professtonal advice at the Company s expense for the furtherance
of their duties, and all Directors have access to the services of the Comparnty Secretary The Company Secretarys accountable to the Board through
the Charman on governance matters. It is the responsibility of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures are followed and all nules and
regulations are complied with. Newly appointed Directors receve a comprehensive, formal and tailored introduction to the Group s business as well as
information on thetr responsibilbities and roles as a Director of the Company

The Board 1s mindful of the requirement to undertake annual evaluation of ts performance and that of ts Committees and indmdual Directors,

All Directors have conducted a self assessment of the performance of the Board duning the period by reference to an evaluation checklist provided by
the Group s external auditors. The results were compiled and analysed by the Company Secretary Areas for impravement identified by the assessment
will be addressed accordingly




38 Phytopharm plc Report and accounts zooy
Corporate governance

Corporate governance continued

Board Commuttees
In accordance with best practice, the Company has establshed Audit, Remuneration and Norminations Committees wath written terms of reference for
eachthat deal with their authonttes and dubes, The full terms of reference of all the Committees have been published on the Company s website

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee compnses the iIndependent Non-Executve Directors, Mr AD Mornison, Dr P R Blower and Mr A H Taylor [appointed 18 Juty 2007),
who the Board considers has recent and relevant financial expenence and s chaired by Mr A D Mornson Dr P M Whitney resigned on 18 July 2007

The Commuttee met two times during the period under review, with the Group s external auditors and Executive Directors attending where appropnate
All meetings were fully attended

The Committee assists the Board in ensunng that the Group s published financial statements give a true and fair vew and in securning relable internal
financial infermation for decision making The Committee reviews the findings of the external auditors and reviews key accounting policies and judgments.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring the effectveness of the extermal audit process and the independence of the external auditors,
recommending audit fee proposals to the Board and considering the scale and nature of non-audit work. Non-audit services prowded by the extermal
auditors are discussed to ensure the Committee 1s satisfied regarding the objectmty and independence of the external audit, nctuding any relevant
safequards Any matenal non-audit fees are approved by the Committee before being committed

The Group has a Quality Assurance manager but does not have an internal financial audit function. The Audit Committee considers that this is approprate
at this ime gven the size of the Group The Audit Committee reviews the Company s Protected Disclosure policy and procedure on an annual basis to
ensure that adequate arrangements are in place by which members of staff may, in confidence, raise concerns abeut possible iImpropneties in matters
of finanaial reporting or other areas. The Commuttee considers that appropnate arrangements are in place for the proportionate and independent
investigation of such matters and for appropnate follow up action.

The Audit Committee conducted a self-assessment of its performance during the period by reference to an evaluation checklist prowded by the Groups
external auditors The results were compiled and analysed by the Company Secretary Areas for improvement identified by the assessment will be
addressed accordingly

The terms of reference of the Audit Commuttee include the following responsibilites

e tomonitor the integnity of the Group s financial statements,

¢ toreview annually the need for an intemnal audt function,

* toreview the effectveness of the Group s internal control and nsk management systems, and

* to consider and make necommendations o the Board regarding the appointment of the Group s external audntors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Comrruttee compnses the independent Non-Executive Directors Mr A D Momison, Dr P R Blower and Mr A H Taplor [appomnted
18 July 2007) and 1s chatred by Dr Blower Dr P M Whitney resigned on 18 July 2007 The Committee met six imes duning the penod under review
Ofthese, apologies for Remuneration Committee meetings were recerved from Mr A D Morrison on 18 July 2007 Otherwise, all meetings were
attended by all memnbers.

The Committee 1s responsible for making recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy for all members of staff and Executive Directors.
The policy recommendations indlude setting salary scales, and approving the format and range of Incentive payments and share option grants to all
staff Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 1s under the control of the Executve Oirectors,

The Remuneration Commuttee conducted a self-assessment of its performance during the pertod by reference to an evaluation checklist provided by
the Group s external audrtors. The resutts were compiled and analysed by the Company Secretary Areas for improvement identified by the assessment
will be addressed accordingly
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee include the following responsibilities

¢« todetermme and agree with the Board the framework and policy for the remuneration of the Exacutive Directors and other members of the
Executive Team,

* todetermine targets for any performance related pay scheme,

» toapprove oversall remuneration structure, and

* toreview employee benefit structures,

The remuneration report, which inctudes details of the Grotp s remuneration policy, 1s set out on pages 29 to 36

Normination Committee

The Normination Committee compnises Mr A D Mormson, Dr P R Blower and Mr A H Taylor [appainted 18 July 2007) and 1s chaired by Dr PR Blower
Dr P MWhitney resigned on 18 Juty 2007 It met four times during the penod under review, with all meetings being fully attended Both Mr P J Morgan
and Mr A H Taylor, who were appointed to the Board dunng the pencd, were selected from a bst of potential candidates provided by the Company s
adwisors and contacts and interviewed by the Committee members prior to their appointment.

The Commuttee I1s responsible to the Board for deterrmining the qualiies and expenence required of the Company s Executive and Non-Executve
Directors and for identfying suttable candidates. In appropnate cases, recrutment consultants assist in the process. The Committee 13 also responsible
for succession planning

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the following responsibilities
+ toidentify and nominate candidates to fill Board positions as they arise,
* toprepare a descnption of the role and capabilities required for a particutar appointment, and

+  togre full consideration to succession planning

Relationshipwith shareholders

The Group 1s cornrmitted to maintaining good relations with its institutional and private sharehclders and reports formally to shareholders on a six monthly
basis through the prowision of intenim and annual reports. In addition, the Group keeps sharehalders inforrned of significant events for the Group duning
the peniod by issuing press releases which are mmediately made available on the Group s website www phytopharm com The Group swebsite also
prowides an overview of the business including its strategy, products and objectives.

The Group also maintains communication by making presentations dunng the pertod Lo institutional shareholders on request and 1o all shareholders
through the Group s website www phytopharm com This contains information on all of the Group s products and all financial reports and press releases
1ssued by the Group Details of the current share price and histonc share pnce performance are also included

The Boards kept up to date at its regular meetings with the views of shareholders and analysts by the Chairman and Chief Executve

Annual general meeting

The pnncipal forum for discussion with shareholders is the annual general meeting and their partiapation 1s encouraged Formal nolification together
with an explanation of each proposed resolution 1s sent to shareholders at least twenty working days In advance of the meeting At the meeting the Board
provides a summary of the penod s events after which all the Directors are avallable to answer questions from shareholders.

In accordance with the Combined Code recornmendations, the Company counts all proxy votes, On each resolution which 15 voted on a show of hands,
the Company indicates the level of proxtes lodged, the nurmber of proxy votes for and against each resolution and the number of abstentions. The Chairs
of the Audit, Remuneration and Nominatien Committees attend to answer questions,

Corporate social responsibility
Details of the Group s actmties in the area of corporate social responsibility are set out on pages 20 to 22
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Corporate governance continued

Internal controls

The Board acknowledges that it1s responsible for the Group s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectveness at least annually However,
the Board acknowledges that such a system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss, asitis
designed to manage rather than eliminate the nsk of failure to achieve business obyectives,

The key procedures that the Board has established are designed to provide effective internal controls within the Group and cornpty wath the Intermal Contral
Gurdance for Directors on the Combined Code 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Counal, There ts an angoing process for identifying and managing
significant nsks faced by the Group which has been in place throughout the peniod and the effectveness of all the Group s internal controts in effect
duning the penod has been revewed by the Board

The Group s key internal control procedures inctude the following

Control ermronment

The Group s control ervronment 15 the responsibility of the Group s Directors and managers at all levels. The Group s organisational structure has clear
lines of reporting and responsibility Reqular research and development programme reviews are held to review progress agamst plan for each programme
The information from these meetings Is reported on a regular basis to a management group compnsing the Executve Directors and key senior managers
to compare progress against plan for the business as awhole Overall control of the business rests wath the Board of Directors.

Risk identification and evaluation
Regular assessments of ongoing nsks facing the business are undertaken as part of the operational reviews and reqular management group meetings
in the key areas such as management of working capital, compliance, legal and operationalissues,

Operational controls

Qualrty. Inveshigational medicinal products and the Group s marketed functional food product (Phytopica®) are manufactured on behalf of Phytopharm
and are produced in accordance with Geod Manufactuning Practice {GMP) to ensure that the products are manufactured consistently to the appropnate
qualty standards. The Company also has agreements with a number of plantations operating under the pnnciples of Good Agncuttural Practice (GAP)
to ensure that raw matenal supply1s consistently controlled and of appropriate quality

Non-clinical studies. Key non-clinical studies to determine the safety and efficacy of new products are conducted inaccordance with Good Laboratory
Practice [GLP) at contractors who operate under those regulations. Each contractor is audited ta assess complance with GLP prior to intiabion of studies.

Clnical studies. All cinical studies carned out by the Group are in accordance with Good Clincal Practice [GCP) This ensures that the health and well
being of the subjects ts carefully monitored during the study and that the data gathered is complete and relable All studies are audited for complance
under the managemnent of Phytopharm'’s quality assurance group

Financial controls

Financiat reporting Budgets and long term forecasts are normally prepared twice a year to altow management to morutor the key business and
finanaat nsks, Further, more frequent, forecasts are prepared if arcumstances require The budgets are reviewed and approved by the Board prior to
adoption by the Company Management accounts are prepared on a monthly basis and performance aga:nst budget s analysed in detall and reported
on monthly

Control procedures. The Group has established detarled poliaes, and accounting and adrministrative procedures are n place covening all sigruficant areas
and key systems. These include formal authonisation procedures for the transfer of funds, capital expenditure and recrutment. Any commitment of
expendrture requires documentary approval which is subject to presenbed Umits of authonity Any major expenditure or commutment including the
appointment of senior members of staff requires Board approval,

Compliance

The Group has established policies and standard operating procedures (SOPs) that prowide instruction on all aspects of the operation of the business.
These SOPs are designed to ensure compliance with the quality managernent requirements of the Group and external regulations where appropriate
All SOPs are reviewed on a regular basis and updated where necessary

Insurance
The Group has reviewed tts portfolio of Insurance policies with ts insurance broker to ensure that the policies are appropnate to the Group s actmties,
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Announcemnents

All announcernents are approved by the Board of Directers prior to 1ssue The Group also has internal and external checks to guard agamst unauthonsed
release of information

Human Resources
The Group endeavours to appoint employees with appropriate skills, expertence and knowledge for the roles they undertake The Group has a range of
polices which are amed at retaining and incentmising key staff. Employees have clear objectives based on the Groups business abjectives.

Gotng cencern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue n operabional exstence for the
foreseeable future For this reason, they continue to adopt the gaing concemn basis in prepanng the Group s financial statements.

The Brolndustry Association [BLA) Code of Practice.
Phytopharm s a member of the BlA who have published a code of eight pninciples which are broad staternents of best practice for information
communication and management for its members. The Group has complied with the Code for the period under review

By order of the Board
Dr DD Rees

Chief Executive

19 December 2007
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Phytopharm plc

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements the financial statements ] of Phytopharm plc for the penod ended 30 September
2007 which compnse the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Company Statements of
Changes in Shareholders Equrty, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the related notes. These finanaial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors Remuneration Report that is described as
having been audited

Respective responsibilibes of Directors and auditors

The Directors responsibibties for prepanng the Annuat Report, the Directors Remuneration Report and the finanaal staternents in accordance
with applicable law and International Finanaal Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of
Directors Responsibilities.

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance wath relevant legal
and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland] This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and
only for the Company s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose We do nat, in gmng this
opinion, accept or assurne responsibility for any other purpese or to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or inte whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consentinwnting

We report to you our opinion as to whether the finanaal statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of the
Directors Remuneration Report to be audted have been property prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group
financial staternents, Article 4 of the LAS Regulation We also report to you whether in our opinion the information gven in the Directors Reportis consistent
with the financial statements The information given i the Directors Report includes that specific inforratton presented in the Business review-
Pharmaceutical products and the Business revew Functional foods that s cross referred from the Review of the business and future developments
section of the Directors Report

In addition we report to you if, in our opirion, the Company has not kept proper accounting recerds, If we have not recerved all the information and
explanations we require for our audt, or if informatien specified by law regarding Directors remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed

We reviewwhether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined Code 2005
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Finanaial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the
beand s staterents on interal control cover all nsks and cantrols, or form an opinion on the effectveness of the Group s corporate governance
procedures or its nsk and control procedures.

We read other iInformation contaned in the Annuat Report and consider whether ttis consistent wath the audited financial statements. The other information
compnses only the Chairman s Statement and Chief Executive s review, the other preliminary sections (Business Highlghts, Our strategic objectives,
Our business strategy, Our pipeling], the Business review Pharmaceutical products and the Business review Functional foods, the Financral review,
the Corporate social responsibility review, the Board of Directors seciion and the Directors report, the unaudited part of the Directors remuneration
report and the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
matenal inconsistencies with the finanoial statements Our responsibilties do not extend to any other information

Basis of audrt opmicn

We conducted our audit n accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Irelandhissued by the Auditing Practices Board An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audited It alsoincludes an assessment of the significant esbrnates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation
of the finanaial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropniate to the Group s and Company s arcumstances, consistently applied
and adeguately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtam all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
suffiaent endence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audrted are
free from matenal misstatermnent, whether caused by fraud or other imegulanity or error In formning our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the financial staterments and the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
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Opmicn

In our opinion

* the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, In accordance with IFRS as adapted by the Furopean Union, of the state of the Group s affairs
as at 30 September 2007 and of its loss and cash flows for the penod then ended,

* the parent company financial staternents give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied i
accordance with the provisions of the Compantes Act 1985, of the state of the parent company s affairs as at 30 September 2007 and of ts cash flows
for the period then ended,

* thefinancial statements and the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, and

= thenformation given in the Directors Report is consistent with the financial statements,
&‘:M«X\W‘-&MX LJ/\”

cewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Cambndge
19 Decemnber 2007
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Consolidated income statement
for the thirteen month period ended 30 September 2007

Thirteen menths Twelve months

to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
Note £ |13
Revenue 2 3,121,018 1,882,501
Cost of sales (250,057) (341,087
Gross profit 2,870,941 1,541434
Net operating expenses 3 (9,422,744) (8,164,952
Operating loss (6,551,783) 16,623,518)
Interest receivable and similar income 217,396 380,484
Interest payable and similar charges 6 (30) -
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation 7 (6,334,417) 16,243,034)
Tax on loss on ordinary actvities 8 521,168 604,421
Loss for the period (5,813,249) {5,638,613)
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share (pence) 10 (10.9) (t110)

All revenues and expenses shown above were generated from continuing operatrons.
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Consolidated and Company balance sheets
at 30 September 2007

Group Company
30 September 31 August 30 September 31 August
2007 2006 2007 2006
Note £ £ € £
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 199,832 201,521 - -
Investments 12 - - 2,330,855 1,767,653
Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking 13 - - 43,922,738 39,684,675
Non-current assets 199,832 201,521 46,253,593 41,452,328
Current assets
Inventories 14 483,483 842,89% - -
Trade and other receivables 15 508,613 568,882 50,348 21,996
Current tax recewvable 8 521,148 604,421 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 16 2,240,947 5,997,428 1,980,557 5,520,988
Current assets 3,954,211 8,013,630 2,030,905 5,542,984
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 17 (1,353,381) 11,737,547) (96,607) (92,501)
Net current assets 2,500,830 6,276,083 1,934,298 5,450,483
Net assets 2,800,662 6,477,604 48,187,891 46,902,811
Equity
Share capital 21 556,063 511,809 556,063 511,809
Share premium 48,685,559 47,156,708 48,190,152 46,661,301
Other reserves (deficit] (204,211) (204,211) - -
Profit and loss account [deficit) 145,236,749)  140,986,702) (558,324) (270,299
Shareholders’ funds 2,800,662 4,477,604 48,187,891 46,902 811

The financial statements cornprising the consolidated income statement, the consolidated and company balance sheets, the Group and Company
statemnents of changes in equity, the consolidated and company cash flow statements and the related notes, were approved by the Board of Directors
on 19 December 2007 and were signed on s behalf by

Mr P JMorgan
Chief Financal Officer

A
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Statements of changes in shareholders’ equity

Other reserves Profit and loss

Share capital ~ Share premium ldefict]  account ldeficul Total

Group £ £ £ £ €
Balance at 1 September 2005 511,809 47,156,708 (204,211) (35,650,581} 11,813,725
Loss for the pertod - - - {5.638,613) 15,438,413)
Equity share options charge - - - 302,492 302,492
Balance at 31 August 2004 511,809 47,156,708 (204,211} (40,985,702) 6,677,604
Loss for the period - - - i5.813,249) (5,813,249)

Issue of equity share capital 44,254 1,489,287 - - 1,533,541
Share 1ssue costs recovered - 39.564 - ~ 39,564
Equity share options charge - - - 543,202 563,202
Balance at 30 September 2607 556,063 48,685,559 (204,211 (46,236,749) 2,800,842
Profit and loss

Share capital ~ Share premwm  account ldeficit] Total

Company £ £ € £
Balance at 1 September 2005 511,809 46,661,301 11,146 47,184,256
Loss for the period - - (583,937] (583,937]
Equity share options charge - - 302,492 302,492

Balance at 31 August 2006 511,809 46,661,301 (270,299) 46,902,811
Loss for the period - - (851,227 (851,227}

Issue of equity share capital 44, 254 1,489,287 - 1,533,541
Share 1ssue costs recovered - 39,564 - 39,564
Equity share options charge - - 543,202 563,202

Balance at 30 September 2007 554,063 48,190,152 (558,234) 48,187,891
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Consolidated and Company cash flow statements
for the thirteen month period ended 30 September 2007

Group Company
Thirteenmonths  Twelve months  Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September to 31 August to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2005 2007 2006
£ £ E [
Cash flow from operating activities
Operating loss (6,551,783)  [6,623518) (1,055,543 (939,369)
Depreciation 97,164 108,259 - -
[Gain)/loss on disposal of preperty, plant and equipment 14,576) 10,068 - -
Share option charge 563,202 302,492 - -
(5,895,993) [6.202,699) (1,055,543) (939,369
Changes in working capital
Decrease/(increase) intrade and other receivables 60,269 96,207 (28,352] {9,817)
(Decreasel/increase i trade and other payables 1384,168) {520,725 4,105 4,081
Decrease In Inventories 159,416 104,325 - -
Cash used in operations (6,060,474) [6,522,892) (1,079,790] (945,108)
Taxation received 604,421 674,341 - -
Interest pad (30) - (30) -
Net cash used in operating achvities {5,455,083) [5,848,551) (1,079,820] [945,108)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 1127,740) {234,596) - -
Sale of property, plant and equipment 36,861 60,750 - -
Interest received 217,396 380,484 204,347 355,432
Net cash generated from investing activities 126,497 206,638 204,347 355,432
Cash flows from financing activittes
Issue of shares 1,681,659 - 1,681,659 -
Share issue costs (148,118) - {148,118] -
Share 1ssue costs recovered 39,564 - 39,564 -
Change in financing of Group company - - (4,238,063} (5,504,938]
Capital elemant of finance leases - [1,398) - -
Net cash generated from/{used in) financing activities 1,673,106 (1,398)  [2,664,958) (5.504,938]
Movements in cash and cash equivalents in the pertod {3,756,481) [5,643,311) (3,540,431) (6,094,611]
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginrung of the peniod 5,997,428 11,640,739 5,520,988 11,615,599

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,240,947 5.997.428 1,980,557 5,520,988
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting policies and basis of preparation
The pnncipal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below These polictes have been consistentty
applied te both penods presented

Basts of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standardsand IFRIC interpretations endorsed by
the EU and wath those parts of the Comparues Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under [FRS The financial statements have been prepared on
ahistoncal cost basts.

The Company changed its year end to 30 September dunng the penod for adrministrative reasons. The finanaal results therefore compnse thirteen months
of trading for the penod ended 30 September 2007, results for the comparative penod compnse trading for the twelve months ended 31 August 2006

Accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The acquistion by the Compary s subsidiary, Phwtotech Limited (formerly Phytopharm Limited), of Phytodeveloprments Limnited on 21 March 1994 has
been accounted for as a merger in the consolidated financial statements, and all transactions between the two companies have been ebninated

On 3 Apnil 1994 the Group structure was recrganised and a new holding Company established byway of a share exchange This has been accounted for
asa merger In the consclidated accounts, and all transactions wathin the Group have been elminated

There has been no change to the hasis set out as a result of the Implementation of IFRS, as permitted by IFRS1

Cnihical accounting judgements

The preparation of the consoldated financial statements requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of polictes and reported amounts of assets and labilities, income and expenses. The main accounting judgerments relate to Inventory valuation, the share
option charge and the undertying assumptions The estimates and associated assumptions are based on fustoncal expenence and vanous other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the aircumnstances, the results of which form the basis of making jJudgements about camying value of assets and
lrablsties that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates The estmates and undertying assurmptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Rewisions to accounbing estimates are recogrised in the period in which the estmate 1s revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the penod of revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Share-based payments

The Group makes equrty-settled share-hased payments to its employees and Directors. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair
value at the date of grant and are expensed on a straight Uine basis ever the vesting penod of the award At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exeraisable The share-based payment charge 1s allocated to research and development
expenses and selling, general and administrative expenses on the basis of staff numbers wath a corresponding adjustment to equrty

Employee benefits

All employee benefit costs, notably holiday pay and contributions to Group or personal defined contrbubion plans, are charged to the Income staternent
on an accruals basis. The Group operates a defined contnbution pension scheme The assets of this scheme are held separately from those of the Group
m independentty administered funds The Group does not offer any other post retirement benefits.

Cash and cash equnalents
Cashand cash equwvalents include cash in hand, bank deposits repayable on demand and other short-term highty Uguid investments wath onginal
maturties at inception of 90 days or less.

Property, plant & equipment

The cost of property, plant & equipment 1s its purchase cost, together with any inadental expenses of acquisition Depreciation 15 calculated so asto
wnte off the cost of property, plant & equipment, less its estmated residual value, on a straight Lne basis aver the expected usaful econormc bves of
the assets concerned
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1 Accounting policies and basis of preparation continued
The pnincipal rates used for this purpose are

Plant and machinery 20%

Computer equipment 33%

Fixtures and fittings 20%

Motor vehicles 25%

Leasehold improvernents are amortised over the shorter of the lease term and the asset s useful economic Ufe

Impairment of assets
Non-current assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date An impairment loss 1s recogrised for the amount by wiich the assat s canrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use

Investments in subsidiary

The investment in Phytotech Lirnited was onginally recorded at the norinal value of the shares 1ssued at the time of the share for share exchange on
3April 1996 The fair value of the options granted after 7 Novernber 2002 by Phytepharm plc to the employees of Phytotech Limited which had not vested
by 1 September 2005 1s now also included in the value of the iInvestment

Research and development expenditure

All on-going research expenditure 1s currently expensed in the penod inwhich it 1s incurred Due to the regulatory and other uncertainties inherent in the
development of the Group s products, the critena for development costs to be recognised as an asset, as prescnbed by IAS 38 “Intangible assets , are not
met until the product has been submitted for regulatory approval, and such approval has been recewved, and it is probable that future economic benefit
will flew to the Group The Group dees not currently have any such internal development costs that qualfy for capitalisation as intangible assets.

Operating leases
Costs in respect of aperating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight Une basts over the lease term

Foreign currencies

Transactions denorminated in foreign currencees are transiated into sterling, being the funcional currency of the Company, at actual rates of exchange
ruling at the date of transaction Monetary assets and Labilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into sterting at rates of exchange nuling at
the end of the financial penod All foreign currency exchange differences are taken to the income statement in the perod nwhich they anse

Revenue
Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the inverced value of goods and services supplied, net of certain promotional actmty

Amounts recerved or recenvable in respect of research and development contracts, collaboratve research agreements, lcence fees or milestone payments
are recogrised as revenue when the licence nghts are granted or the speafic conditions stipulated in the agreements have been satisfied These amounts
are shown gross of any withholding tax.

Cost of sales and operating expenses

Cost of sales compnses the proportion of milestone and royalty income earned by the Group and due to third parties under cence agreements and the
direct cost of goods sold, including distrbution costs. All research and development costs, whether funded by third parties under licence and development
agreements or not, are included within operating expenses and classified as research and development costs.

Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax 15 provded in full, using the bability method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and biabiliies and
theur carrying amounts inthe consolidated financial statements in accordance with 1AS 12 “Income taxes™ Deferred tax s not accounted for if t anses
from imibial recognition of an asset or bability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects nesther the
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. A deferred tax asset s recogrused only to the extent that it 1s probable that sufficent taxable profitwill be available
in future periods to utilise the temporary difference

lrventory

Inventory including raw matenals, work in progress and finished goods is stated on a first in first out basis at the lower of cost and net realisable value
Cost represents direct matenats and where applicable production overheads. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving ar
defactive inveniory
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Notes to the financial statements continued

Equity instrurments
Equity instruments 1ssued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds receved, net of direct 1ssue costs.

Trade recenables
Trade recevables are non-interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value, as reduced by appropnate allowances for estrmated imecoverable amounts.

Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are stated at their nominal value

Basts for segments

Abusiness segment s a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or senvices that are subject tonsks and returns that are different
from those of cther business segments. A geographtcal segment is engaged in prowding products or services within a particular econormic ermronment
that are subject to nsks and returns which are different from those segments operating in other economic ermronments.

New IFRS standards and interpretations not appled
The {ASB and IFRIC 1ssued additional standards and interpretations which are effective for penods starting after the date of these financial statements.
The fellowing standards and interpretations have yet to be adopted by the Group

International Financtal Reporting Standards {IFRS/1AS) Elfective date
IFRS7 - Financial Instruments disclosures 1 January 2007
IFRS8 - Operating Segments 1 January 2009
IAS1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, comprehensive revision requiring a statement of comprehensive income 1 January 2009

International Financial Reperting Interpretations Committee [IFRIC)

IFRIC12 - Service Concession Agreements 1 January 2008
IFRIC13 - Custorner Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
IFRIC14 - IAS19 - The Limit of a Defined Benefit Asset 1 January 2008

The Group does net anticipate that these standards and interpretations wall have a matenal effect on ts financial staternents on iniial adoption

2. Business and geographical segments

The Group s development and other functions operate across bath pharmaceutical products and functional foods, are managed centrally and are reported
internally as a single business. This also applies to the Group s marketed products. Accordingly, the Directors consider that there 1s only one primary
reporting segment. Geographic segments are secondary as neither geographical ongin nor destination is central to management s assessment of nsk
and retum

Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
€ £

By geographical area by destination
United Kingdom 163,822 218,229
Europe 2,957,196 1,653,751
Asia - 10,521
3,121,018 1,882,501

All the Group s tumover, loss before taxation and net assets arose in the United Kingdomn
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3. Net operating expenses
Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September 10 31 August
2007 2084
€ £
Continuing operations
Research and development 7,500,404 6,540,173
Administrative expenses 1,922,340 1,624,779
9,422,744 8,164,952
4. Directors’ emoluments
Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September 10 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Aggregate emoluments 608,346 815,499
Compensation for loss of office 37,109 43,474
Contributions to money purchase pension schemes 210,193 28,857
855,648 887,830

There were no gains made by indmdual Directors from the exercise of share options for the period ended 30 September 2007 (2006 nil)

Detailed disclosures of Directors indmdual remuneration and share options are given in the report of the Board on remuneration on pages 29 to 36

All the Executive Directors, compnsing three this pertod {2004 two) had retirernent benefits accruing to them from money purchase pension schernes in

respect of qualifying servces.

5. Employee information
The average monthty number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed duning the penod was

Thirteen months Twelve manths
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
Number Number
Administration 10 10
Research and development 27 27
37 37
Thirteen months Twebve months
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £

Staff costs [for the above persons):
Wages and salaries 1,691,278 1,942,058
Social security costs 192,274 233,677
Other pension costs 278,383 82,880
Share option charge 563,202 302,492
2,725,139 2,561,107
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5. Employee information continued

Key management compensation
Thirteen months Twelve manths
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Wages and salanes 893,616 1119562
Social secunty costs 114,447 142,849
Other pension costs 224,212 44,565
Share option charge 272,034 186,476
1,508,309 1,493,452

Key management personnel are those persons having authorty and responsibility for planning, directing and controling the actvties of the Group, directly
or indirectly, including all Executive Directers and Non-Executve Directors, The number of management personnel whose remuneration is included above

is101(2006 11)
The Company has no employees.
6. Interest payable and similar charges
Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Other interest payable 30 -
7. Loss on ordinary actvities before taxation
Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 September to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Loss on ordinary activties before taxation is stated after charging
Depreciation charge for the period
Owried property, plant and equipment 97,184 108,259
(Gain}loss on dispesal of property, plant and equipment 14,576) 10,068
Fees payable to the Company s auditors for the audit of the parent company
and consolidated financial statements 25,000 19,000
Fees payable for other services supplied pursuant to legislation 8,900 8,500
Fees payable for the audst of the Company s subsidianies pursuant to legislation 6,000 5,000
Tax services 12,530 10,290
Other services 950 -
Operating lease charges
Plant and machinery 7573 31136
Other assets 91,975 84,900
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8. Tax on loss on ordinary actvibies
Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 Septemnber to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Current tax
Current UK corporation tax credit on loss for the period 521,168 604,421

There 1s no corporation tax charge because of the Inaidence of tax losses (2006 E£rll The Company has taken advantage of the Research and Development
corperation tax credits introduced in the: Finance Act 2000 whereby a company may surrender corporation tax losses incurred on research and development

expenditure for a corporation tax refund at the rate of 24 pence in the pound of actual spend

Factors affecting the current tax credit for the year

Thirteen months Twelve months
to 30 Septembear to 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Loss on ordinary actvties before tax 18,334,417) (6,243,034)
Loss on ordinary actvities multiplied by the standard rate for research
and development tax credits of 16% (2006 14%) (1,013,507) (998,885)
Effect of
Ditference between depreciation and capital allowances 11,950 15,221
Short term timing differences 1,211} 250
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 776 2,084
Effect of share option compensation charge 90,112 48,399
Enhanced research & developrment expenditure 1173,722) 201,474}
Carried forward losses 564,434 529,984
Tax credit for the period (521,148) 1604,421)

9. Loss for the financial year

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the parent Company s profit and loss account has not been included in these financial statemerts.

The parent Company s loss for the perod to 30 September 2007 was £ 851,227 (2006 £583,937

10. Loss per ordinary share

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share on the net basis 1s based on the loss on ordinary actvities after taxation, namety £5,813,249
(2006 £5,638,613) and on 53,567,257 (2006 51,180,893 ordinary shares, betng the weighted average number of ordinary shares in ssue and ranking

for dvdend dunng the pernad

The Company has no diutsve potental ordinary shares in issue because it 1s loss making
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11. Property, plant and equipment
Short Computer Mator Plant and Fixtures
leasehold equipment vehicles machinery and fitungs Total
£ £ |3 £ £
Cost
At 1 September 2004 3,363 278,994 168,471 24,739 175,588 651,155
Additions - 31,194 76,616 - 19,950 127,760
Disposals - (3,477) {54,760) - (5,047 163,284)
At 30 September 2007 3,363 304,711 190,327 24,73% 190,491 715,631
Depreciation
At 1 September 2006 3,363 235,586 59,419 19,588 131,678 449 634
Charge for year - 33,634 43,494 2,148 17,888 97,164
Disposals - (2,392 (23,710 - 14,897 (30,999
At 30 September 2007 3,363 246828 79,203 21,736 144,649 515,79%
Net book value
At 30 September 2007 - 39,883 111,124 3,003 45,822 199,832
Net book value
At 31 August 2006 - 43,408 109,052 5,151 43,910 201,521
Compary
The Company has no property, plant and equipment.
12 Investments
Group Company
2007 2006 007 2004
Investment in group undertakings £ £ £ £
At 1September - - 1,767,653 1,465,161
Share option charge 563,202 302,492
At 30 September - - 2,330,855 1,767,653
Other investments
Cost at 1 September and 31 August 30,098 30,098 30,098 30,098
Prowision for impairment in value at 1 September and 31 August (30,098) (30,098) (30,098) {30,098)
Carrying value at 1 September and 30 September - - - -
Total fixed asset tnvestments - - 2,330,855 1,747,653

The other Investment shown above 15 1n equity shares of Saklaspur Bio Tech Limited (formerty Tumkur Chernicals Limited), a private company incorporated
in India. Thisinvestment represents 10% of the voting nghts and nominal value of 1ssued shares. The investmenlt was fully Impaired as at 31 August 2002,
The operations of Saklaspur Bio Tech Limited ceased in 2002 and the entity has since then not generated revenues and it 1s not likely that the investment

value will be recovered
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12 Investments continued
Interests n Group undertakings
Proportion of voting rights and nominat
value of tssued shares held by
Name of undertaking Country of iIncorporation Description of shares held Group % Company %
Phytotech Limited England and Wales Ordinary 10 pence shares 100 100
Phytodevelopments Limuted England and Wales Qrdinary €1 shares 100 -

Both the above companies have been included in these financial staterments and operated principally in thesr country of incorporation or registration

The pnnaipal business actmttes of these subsidrary undertalungs are
Phytotech Limited - developrment of pharrnaceutical products and functional foods
Phytodevelopments Limited - dormant

13. Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking

Group Company

30 September 21 August 30 September 31 August

2007 2008 2007 2006

£ £ £ |3

Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking - - 43,922,738 39,684,675

There are no fixed termsin respect of amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings, These are nen-interest bearing, unsecured and not payable on demand

14. Inventories
30 September 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Raw matenials and consumables £33,595 482,056
Work in progress 249,888 360,843
683,483 842,899

Inthe period ended 30 September 2007, finished goods to the value of £215,453 have been recogrised as an expense n cost of sales (2006 £149,946),
£107.516 of raw materials and finished goods near to or past their expiry date have been written off (2006 £104,636] and no provision has been made
against obsolete raw matenals, work in progress and finished goods (2006 £79,266)

The Company has no inventories.

15. Trade and other receivables
Group Gompany
30 September 31 August 30 September 31 August
2007 2004 2007 2006
£ £ £ £
Trade receivables 227,568 324,396 - -
Other receivables 96,477 34,740 25,950 489
Prepayments and accrued iIncome 184,548 209,746 24,398 21,507

508,613 568,882 50,348 21,996
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14. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
30 September 31 August 30 September 31 August
2007 2005 007 2006
[ 8 E £ £
Cash and cash equivalents 2,240,947 5,997,428 1,980,557 5,520,988

The Company holds its excess cash reserves in a combination of fixed interest accounts and fixed term money market deposits, At 30 Septernber 2007
and 31 August 2006 these did not exceed three months in duration

17. Trade and other payables

Group Company

30 September 31 August 30 September 31 August

2007 2004 2007 2006
€ € £ £
Trade payables 242,839 522,222 44,551 2,440
Other payables 15,064 73 - -
Other taxatton and social security 48,165 61,598 - -
Accruals and deferred income 1,047,313 1,193,654 52,056 90,081
1,353,381 1,737,547 96,607 92,501

Included within other payables for the Group 1s an armount of £15,032 (2006 €73) relating to pensions

18, Provisions

Prowvision for employer’s National Insurance on share option gains

There s no provision for employer s National Insurance on share option gains at the pertod end as the option price ofthe share opttons granted after
5April 1999 (but before 7 November 2002) under the 1996 share option scheme, which have not vested at 30 September 2007, 1s greater than the
market value of the shares under option Options granted after 18 Septermnber 2000 under the 1996 share opttons schemes and all ophons granted
under the 2003 and the 2007 share option schemes have transferred the bability for National Insurance to the employee

Deferred taxation
The Group and Company have the potentral assets shown below, which are not recognised due to uncertainty as to the tirning of their utiisation
Group Company
30 September 31 August 30 September 31 August
2007 2006 2007 2006
€ £ £ 3
Tax effect of tming differences
Excess of tax allowances over depreciation 292,026 290,404 307 319
Accumulated losses 2,642,553 9,322,398 746,389 546,611
Cther - 2,271 - -

9,934,579 9,615,073 749,452 549,904
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19. Financial instruments and financial nsk management

The Group s financial instruments comprise pimanly cash and liquid resources, and vanous items such as trade recevables and trade payables, which
anse directly from rts operations. The Group does not enter into denvative transactions

The Group s engoing objectives in using finanaal instruments are to maximese the returns on funds held on depost, to minimise exchange rate nsk where
appropnate, and to generate additional cash resources through the issue of shares when mariket conditions are appropnate In addition, the Group has
from ttme to ttme conserved cash resources by entenng inte financing arrangements for the acquisition of major capital assets

The balance sheet positions at 30 September 2007 and 31 August 2004 are not representative of the positions throughout the pened as cash and
short-terrn iInvestments fluctuate considerably depending on when milestone receipts have occurred and on the timing of share 1ssues,

Interest rate nsk profile of the Group’s financial assets

The Group held all cash, bank and deposits in Sterling accounts wath UK banks. Interest rates on current accounts are floating and are based on LIBID,
while interest rates on term deposits are fixed for the duration of deposit and eamed interest between 5 % and 5 75% in the penod ended 30 Septermber
2007 (2004 between 4 5% and 4.91%)

Interest rate nsk profile of the Group’s financial babilities
The Group s liabilittes were all in Sterling at fixed rates of interest and are in respect of lease agreements for the purchase of capital assets, or were non
interest-beanng

Currency nsk profile
The Group had no signuficant commitments in foreign currencies throughout the period

Bormownng faalities
The Group had no borrowang facilties at 30 September 2007 (2006 £ril)

Fairvalues
There s no matenal difference between the {arr value and the carrying values of the financial Instruments referred to above, because of the short matunty
penod of these financial iInstruments or their ntinsic size and nsk,

Credit risk

Other than trade recenvables, the finanaal mstruments that subject the Group to a potential credit sk compnse pnncipally of cash and short term
investments and the funds advanced to suppliers of inventory The Group s policy is to minimise the nsks assocrated with cash and short term investments
by placing these depostts with institutions with a recogrised high rating, or with one of the major clearing banks. Trade receivables are largely with highly
reputable, creditworthy trading partners

20. Pensions and similar obligations

The Group operates a number of defined contnbution pension schermes for employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group in independently adrministered funds. The pension cost represents contnbutions paid and payable by the Group to the funds and amounted
to £278.383 (2006 €82,880)

21. Called-up share caprtat

30 September 31 August
2007 2006
£ £
Authonsed
100,800,000 [2004 100,000,000) ordinary shares of 1pence each 1,000,000 1,000,000
Allotted, called-up and fully pad
55,606,309 (2006 51,180,893 ordinary shares of 1pence each 556,063 511,809

Ouring the penod 4,425,416 shares were issued for cash consideration of £1,681,659 The nominal amount of these shares was £44,254 Inthe year
ended 31 August 2005, no shares were issued for cash.
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22. Options over shares of Phytopharm plc

Potential Issues of shares

The Cornpany may grant share options to selected employees onjoining the Company and ary such grants are made following the pretirinary and
intenm announcements tagether with performance related grantsto all employees. Performance critena must be satisfied before share options can
be exertised and these are detailed below In addition the Company has a long-term incentive scheme under which long-term share incentves may be
granted to selected Senior Executves. Duning the period the Remuneration Committee reviewed the effectiveness and appropriateness of the existing
long-term incentve and share option schemes. As a resull of this review, new incentive arrangements were approved by Shareholders at a general
meetingin June 2007 Subsequently employees and Executive Directors surmrendered existing options and receved grants under the new arrangements

The autstanding share scheme options and long-term incentive awards at 30 September 2007 are shown below analysed according to the exeraise
cntena Other than those described In notes 6 to 10 below, all options were onginally granted under the 1994 and 2003 plans. The conditions attaching

tothese were not affected by the surrender and replacement described above

Number Currently Currently
outstanding Exercise Date Exercisable Exercisable vested exarcisable
30/092007 price Note granted From To 30/092007 30/092007
450 £450 1a 02/07/2002 02/07/2005 01/07/2012 450 -
1,304 £1145 1b 06/12/2002 06/12/2005 05/12/2012 1,304 -
1,754 1,754 -
450 £4 50 2a 02/07/2002 02/07/2005 01/07/2012 450 -
1,304 £1145 2b 04/12/2002 06/12/2005 05/12/2012 1,304 -
1,754 1,754 -
900 £4 50 3 02/07/2002 02/07/2007 01/07/2009 200 -
2,607 £1 145 3 (16/12/2002 046/12/2007 05/12/2009 - -
3,507 900 -
15,424 £1815 4h 03/12/2004 03/12/2007 02122014 - -
5612 €1255 4b 11/05/2005 11/05/2008 10/05/2015 - -
7,881 £0 48 4b 03/11/2005 03/11/2008 02/11/2015 - -
7,524 £0 56 4b 08/05/2006 08/05/200% 07/05/2016 - -
21,464 £0 4675 4b 08/11/2006 08/11/200% 07/11/2016 - -
57,907 - -
600,000 £0 45 [ 0%/01/2007 09/01/2010 08/01/2017 - -
600,000 - -
2,532,484 £0 445 7 03/08/2007 03/08/2009 02/08/2017 - -
2,532,484 - -
151,136 £001 03/08/2007 03/08/2009 * - -
155,000 €001 03/08/2007 03/08/2010 * - -
306,136 - —
121,817 £0 4825 10 12/09/2007 01/10/2010 30/09/2011 - -
121,817 - -

* these shares shall be transferred to the participant at the end of the performance period to the extent that any performance conditions have been s
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Note

1a These options vest in tranches of one third on each of the first, second and third anniversanes of the date of grant, and have been granted under
ascheme approved by HMRC Each option s subject to the following condiion which must be satisfied before it can be exerased, namely that the
Increase between an amount equal to 91% of the option price for thase options orginally granted on 24 April 1996 or the option pice for later grants
and the middle market quotation of a share on a date falling no eartier than the third annnversary of the date of grant of that option shall be at least
one and a half imes the iIncrease over the penod from the date of grant to such date in the FT Actuanes All Share Index The options remain
exercisable until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant

1k These options vest in the same way and must satisfy the sarme conditions as those under 1a above However, these options remain exerasable until
the seventh anniversary of the date of grant and have not been submitted to HMRC for approval.

2a These options vest m tranches of ane third on each of the first, second and third anniversanes of the date of grant and have been granted under
ascheme approved by HMRC Each option is subject to the following condition which must be satisfied before it can be exercised, namely that the
Increase between an amount equal to 91% of the option price for those options onginally granted on 24 Apnl 1996 er the option price for later grants
and the middle market quotation of a share on a date falling no earlier than the third anniversary of the date of grant of that option shall. be at least
twice the increase over the pertod from the date of grant to such datein the FT Actuaries All Share Index. The options rernain exerasable until the
tenth anniversary of date of the grant.

2b These options vest in the same way and must satisfy the same conditons as those under 2a abave However, these options remain exercisable untl
the seventh anniversary of the date of grant and have not been submitted to HMRC for approval.

3 These oplions vest in tranches of one fifth on each of the first, second, third, fourth and fifth annversanes of the date of grant Each option 1s subject
to the follawing condition which must be satisfied before it can be exercised, namety that the increase between an amount equal to 91% of the option
price for those options onginally granted on 24 Apnl 1994 or the option price for later grants and the middle market quotation of a share on a date
falung no earlier than the fifth anniversary of the date of grant of that option shall be at least one and a halftimes the increase over the period from
the date of grant to such date in the Pharmaceuticals Index as published by the Financial Times as a constituent part of the FT Actuanies All Share
Index. The ophions remain exercisable until the seventh anniversary of the date of grant

4a These options vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant and have been granted under a scheme approved by HMRC The number of options
exercisable wall be determined by the Company s Total Shareholder Return (TSR] Two thirds wall become exertisable by reference to the Companys
performance compared to a group of UK bisted biotechnology companies applicable at the time of grant The remasning one third will be exercisable
by reference to the Campany s performance compared to the constituents of the FTSE Srall Cap Index.

The value of options [at date of grant] granted up to 100% of base salary will be exertisable if the Company s TSR in the relevant ranking Groupis
above the median The value of options [at date of grant] granted in excess of 100% of base salarywill be exerasable at 25% for median performance
against the comparater Group nsing to 100% for upper quartile and above performance The performance of the Company will nitially be measured
over three years following grant date If the target has not been met after three years, it can be re-tested after years four and five For options
onginally granted in 2004 there will be only one opion to re-test after four years and for options ongmally granted in 2005 and later there will be ro
opporturity to re-test.

4b These options vest in the same way and must sabisfy the same conditions as those under note 4a above and have been granted under the Enterpnse
Management (ncentive Scheme

4c These options vest in the same way and must satisfy the same conditrons as those under note 4a above and have nat been submitted to HMRC
for approvak

5 These awards made under long-term incentive plans are subject to performance condiions and the benefits are not pensionable The performance
conditions are based on TSR over a three year penod fwith no retesting opportunities) when compared to a peer Group compnising other UK Uisted
biotech and pharmaceutical comparues (as above] for two thinds of the shares and compared to the FTSE Small Cap index for the remaining one
third In each case 25% of the shares will vest for median performance against the comparator Group rising prorate to 100% for upper decle and
above performance None of the shares awarded wall vest for below median performance TSR s considered by the remunieration committee to be
the most robust method of measunng Company performance over the penod The terms of these awards will not be amended to the benefit of
Directors without shareholder approval.
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22, Options over shares of Phytopharm plc continued

& 0On9 January 2007 the Remuneration Committee made a performance share award of 350,000 ordinary shares to Dr D Rees, and 250,000 ordinary
shares to Mr P Morgan at an exercise price of 45 pence per share The Remuneration Committee considered that there was a considerable risk of
Br Rees leawng the Company as hus existing share aptien awards were at option prices sigruficantly in excess of the current share price and this
perfermance share award was granted, as permitted by Listing Rule 9 4 2 (2] to retain the services of Dr Rees. The Remuneration considered that
the award to Mr Morgan was necessary and as permitted by Listing Rule 9 4 2{2), to secure the services of Mr Morgan The awards are subject to
performance conditions and the benefits are not pensionable The performance conditton 15 based on TSR over a three year period (withno retesting
opportunities] when compared to the FTSE Small Cap Index. 100% of the shares awarded will vest for performance above the comparator group
None of the shares awarded will vest for performance below the comparator group TSR 1s considered by the Remuneration Committee to be the
most robust methed of measunng company performance over the period The terms of the awardwill not be amended to the benefit of Dr Rees or
Mr Morgan without seeking shareholder approval.

7 These options vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant and have been granted under the Enterpnse Management Incentve Scheme
The number of aptions exercisable will be determined by the Company s TSR compared to the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap Index. The value
of options [at date of grant) will be exercisable if the Companys TSR in the relevant ranking Group 1s above the median

8 These aptions vest on the second anniversary of the date of grant and have been granted under the long-term incentve plan The number of options
exertsable will be deterrmined by the Company s TSR compared to the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap Index. The value of options lat date of
grant] will be exercisable at 25% if the Company s TSR in the retevant ranking Group 1s above the median nsing to 100% for upper decile performance

9 These options vest on the third annwersary of the date of grant and have been granted under the long-term incentve plan The number of options
exercisable will be determined by the Company s TSR compared to the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap Index, The value of options (at date of
grant) wll be exercisable at 25% if the Company s TSR in the relevant ranking Group 15 above the median nsing to 100% for upper deale performance

10 These options are granted under a save as you earn plan approved by HMRC The last offer under the plan was made te all employees and Executive
Directors on 13 August 2007

Optionvaluatons

Options were valued using a stochastic model [alse known as a Monte Carlo model] The far value per option granted and the assumphions used in the
calculation for options granted since 6 December 2002 are set out in the tables respectively below The Cormnpany s effective date for IFRSZ, Share Based
Payments implementation is 1 Septernber 2005 and the IFRS has been applied to all options granted after 7 November 2002 which have not vested by
this effective date and options granted before this effective date which have been subsequently modified

The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculation for options granted since 6 December 2002 are set out below

Number
of shares Number of Incremental
outstanding at Fair value Share price shares  fair value of
Exercise 30 September per option at ondateof surrendered replacement
Grant price 2007 grantdate  Modification  modification  and replaced options
Award date £ £ £ date £ £ £
1996 Share Option Plans” 03/08/2007 0 445 292,989 02030
1996 Share option plan [part 1a]  04/12/2002 11465 30,163 04700 03/08/2007 0 445 28,859 0 0636
1996 Share option plan lpart 16} 04/12/2002 1165 27,184 04700 03/08/2007 0 645 27,184 0 1971
1996 Share option plan [part 2al  D&/12/2002 1165 30,157 06780 03/08/2007 0 445 28,853 0 0708
1996 Share option plan (part 2b)  04/12/2002 1165 27,181 0 6664  03/08/2007 0 445 27,181 01998
1996 Share option plan [part 3) 05/12/2002 1165 106,951 06641 03/08/2007 0 445 104,344 01789
2003 Share option plan 02/05/2003 1425 97,449 08137 03/08/2007 0 445 97,449 0149
2003 Share option plan 02/05/2003 1425 48,725 08137 03/08/2007 0 445 48,725 02034
2003 Share option plan 09/12/2003 2125 163,564 12559 03/08/2007 0 445 163,564 01847

2002 Share option plan 09/12/2003 2125 81,782 12559 03/08/2007 0 445 81,782 02016
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Number
of shares Number of Incremental
outstanding at Fair value Share price shares  farr value of
Exeruise 30 September  per option at ondate of surrendered replacement
Grant price 2007 grantdate  Modificaton modification  and replaced options
Award date £ £ date [ £ E
2003 Share option plan 05/05/2004 185 37,939 10360 03/08/2007 0 445 37,939 01994
2003 Share option plan 05/05/2004 185 18,970 10360 03/08/2007 0 445 18,970 0 2034
2003 Share option plan 05/05/2004 185 15,599 10360 03/08/2007 0445 15,599 0 1954
2003 Share option plan 05/05/2004 185 7,800 10360 03/08/2007 0 445 7,800 0 2034
2003 Share option plan 03/12/2004 1815 103,837 06411 03/08/2007 0 445 88,411 01749
2003 Share option plan 03/12/2004 1815 44,206 06411 03/08/2007 0445 44,206 01934
2003 Share option plan 11/05/2005 1 255 124,220 06250 03/08/2007 0445 118,408 01802
2003 Share option plan 11/05/2005 1255 59,304 0 6250 03/08/2007 0445 59,304 02025
2003 Share option plan 03/11/2005 048 162,570 02352 03/08/2007 0 445 154,68% 00423
2003 Share option plan 03/11/2005 048 77,344 02352 03/08/2007 0445 77,344 01144
2003 Share option plan 14/12/2005 0545 266,667 06670 03/08/2007 0445 266,667 0 0042
2003 Share option plan 14/12/2005 0545 133,333 0 6670 03/08/2007 0 445 133,233 0 1562
2003 Share option plan 08/05/2006 0 56 100,996 06234 03/08/2007 0445 93,472 -
2003 Share option plan 08/05/2004 056 46,736 04234 03/08/2007 0445 46,736 00329
2003 Share option plan 08/11/2006 04675 242,448 02436 03/08/2007 0 445 220,984 -
2003 Share option plan 08/11/2006 04675 110,492 02436 03/08/2007 0445 110,492 00156
2003 Share performance plan 03/12/2004 001 57,716 12741 03/08/2067 0 445 57,716 02817
2003 Share performance plan 03/12/2004 001 28,858 12741 03/08/2007 0445 28,858 02817
2003 Share performance plan 11/05/2005 001 11,301 08095 03/08/2007 0445 11,301 02750
2003 Share performance plan 11/05/2005 001 5,651 08095 03/08/2007 0 445 5,651 02817
2003 Share performance plan 03/11/2005 001 31,740 02741 03/08/2007 0 445 31,740 01135
2003 Share performance plan 03/11/2005 om 15,870 02741 03/08/2007 0 445 15,870 01135
Exceptional award 09/01/2007 045 400,000 02213 03/08/2007 - - -
2007 Share option plan 03/08/2007 0 445 137,000 02034 03/08/2007 - - -
2007 Long term incentive plan  03/08/2007 001 155,000 02801 03/08/2007 - - -
2007 Sharesave plan 12/09/2007 04825 121,817 01900 03/08/2007 - - -

(1) These awards were awarded prior to the effective date for IFRS2 and were surrendered and replaced on 3 August 2007 Therr fair value has been calcutated at the date of modification.
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22. Options over shares of Phytopharm pic continued

The fair values of the oniginal share options granted but not vested as at 30 September 2007 were calcutated using the following assumptions

Expected Expected Performance
Grant Expected dividend yield volatibty Risk free rate condition
Award date term (notelbll Incte (c)) {note [dl] [notel
1996 Share option plan (part 1a)  06/12/2002  See note [a) below 0% 63 0% 50% 1a
1996 Share option plan [part 2a)  06/12/2002  See note [a] below 0% 63 0% 5 0% 2a
1996 Share option plan [part 3) 046/12/2002  See note [a) below 0% 630% 50% 3
2003 Share option plan 03/12/2004  See note [a) below 0% 81 0% 50% 4
2003 Share option plan 11/05/2005 3years 0% 62 0% 4 0% 4
2003 Share optien plan 03/11/2005 3years 0% 64 0% 4 0% 4
2003 Share option plan 08/05/2006 Jyears 0% 68 2% 4 8% 4
2007 Share option plan 03/08/2007 2 years 0% 67 5% 54% 7
2007 Long term incentive plan 03/08/2007 2years 0% 71 3% 5 6% 8
2007 Long term incentive plan 03/08/2007 3years 0% 713% 56% 9
2007 Sharesave Plan 12/09/2007 3Years 0% 64 5% 49% 10
The fair values of the options surrendered and replaced on 3 August 2007 were calculated using the following assumptions
Expected Expected Performance
Grant Expected dwdend yeld volatibty Risk free rate condition
Award date term [note(b)] Inote [¢)) [note (d]) {note)
1996 Share option plan [part 1al  06/12/2002  See note (a) below 0% 67 9% 5 5% 1a
1997 Share option plan [part 1b)  06/12/2002  See note [a] below 0% 47 5% 5 6% 1b
1996 Share option plan (part 2a)  06/12/2002  See note [a] below 0% &7 9% 5 5% 2a
1997 Share option plan [part 2b]  06/12/2002  See note la] below 0% 47 5% 5 6% 2b
1994 Share option plan [part 3) 06/12/2002  See note [al below 0% 53 0% 5 5% 3
2003 Share option plan 02/05/2003  See note (al below 0% &4 5% 55% 4
2003 Share option plan 09/12/2003  See note (a) below 0% 62 8% 55% 4
2003 Share option plan 05/05/2004  See note [al below 0% 42 6% 55% 4
2003 Share option plan 03/12/2004  See note [a] below 0% 69 1% 54% 4
2003 Share option plan 11/05/2005 3years 0% &7 8% 5 4% 4
2003 Share aption plan 03/11/2005 3years 0% 67 7% 54% 4
2003 Share option plan 14/12/2005 3years 0% 527% 5 6% 4
2003 Share option plan (08/05/2006 3years 0% 49 1% 54% 4
2003 Share option plan 08/11/2006 3years 0% 67 8% 5 4% 4
2003 Share performance plan 03/12/2004 3years 0% 43 7% 5 6% 5
2003 Share performance plan 11/05/2005 3years 0% 43 7% 5 6% 5
2003 Share performance plan 03/11/2005 3years 0% 47 6% 5 6% 5
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22. Options over shares of Phytopharm plc continued

Notes to assumnptions:

(al 1) 40% of participants exercise after 3years f a gain of 40% 1s avatlable If this gain is not avallable, these indmduals hold on to their shares until such
again can be made The performance test must be satisfied If the test has not been satisfied at the date of leaving, the awards lapse
i) 25% of the remainder exercise from the 3rd annversary onwards using a reducing balance methodology, providing that a gain of 20% 1s available
If this gain 1s not avarlable, these indwduals refrain from exercising untit such a gain can be made
i} 15% of the total participants are "good leavers [where the employee may have up to twelve months to exerase optionsl
] 5% of the participants exercise per annum in years 4 onwards on a reducing balance methedology, provding that the optisnsare in the money
[irrespective of the level of gain] to allow for leavers inthese pertods. This is reduced to 7 years for the 7 year options granted under the ES0S
vl any remaining options are exerased at maturty provding that they are iInthe money™ Any awards that are “underwater therefore lapse at matunty
This exercise strategy 1s subject to the passing of the performance conditions descnbed above

(b) The dnadend yreld of 0% reflects the absence of a lustory of paying dmdends and a clear dndend policy statement at the relevant grant dates.

lc) Expected volatility 15 the measurement of the amount by which a share price is expected to fluctuate dunng a penod The expected volatility has been
calculated using the standard approach of calculating the standard dewiation of the natural loganthm of historical share price movernents.

([d) UK Gilt rates prevalent on the date of grant wath a penod commensurate with the term of the award

A reconciliation of share option scheme mavements for the penods ended 31 August 2006 and 30 September 2007 1s set out below

2007 2006

Werghted Weighted

average average

exercise pnce €xercise price

Number £ Number £

At 1 September 3,132,918 1.67 3,417,274 187
Surrendered (2,546,620) 1.39 - -
Granted 3,960,436 0.42 1,048,792 048
Exercised - - - -
Lapsed 1921,375) 1.97 {1,333,150) 214
At 30 September [31 August) 3,625,359 0.42 3132918 129

The following tables summanse the information about the range of exercise prices for share options outstanding at 31 August 2006 and 30 Septernber 2007

30 September 2007 31 August 2006

Weighted Weghted Weighted Weighted

average average average average

exercise remaining Ufe erercise remamning Ufe

price Number contractual pnce Number contractual

Range of exercise prices £ of shares years £ of shares years
£001 0.01 305,136 10.00 o0 262,955 B4b
£0 48-£0 56 0.45 3,291,170 9.76 053 937,109 922
£1165-£1 85 1.57 26,253 & 52 140 1,090,711 b 46
£2125-£2 915 - - - 220 341,484 632
£389 - - - 389 124,808 042
£4 20-4 95 4.50 1,800 3.50 4 65 249,072 255
£5 42-£5 62 - - - 553 10,573 409
£6 00-£6 89 - - - 659 116,206 135

The total charge for the penod relating to employee share-based payment plans was £563,202 (2006 £302,492) alt of which related to the above equity
based transactions.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

23. Post balance sheet events

There are no balance sheet events of significance |

24 Capital commitments
Neither the Group nor the Company had capital commitments contracted but not prowded for at 30 September 2007 (2006 £nil)

25, Contingent Liabilities
There were no contingent Liabilities in the Group or Company at 30 September 2007 (2006 £rul)

25. Financial commitments
At 30 September 2007 there were the following commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

Group
30 September 2007 31 August 2006
Land and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other
€ £ £ £
Within one year 25,900 - 25,900 1,263
Between two and five years inclusive 6,474 - 34,528 22,267
32,374 - 60,428 23,530
Company

The Company has no annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases.

The Group has purchase cbligations of £488,180 1n respect of its sub-contracted research and development actmties as at 30 September 2007
(2006 £1,590,188) The Companyhad no such commtments

27. Related party transactions

Group
Under IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures the Groupis not required to disclose inter-group transactions which are ebminated on consolidation

The Directors regard Phytopharm ple as the uttimate controling party of the Group

Company

The mter-company balances cutstanding at 30 Septernber 2007 and 31 August 2006 are shown on the Company balance sheet
The Compary has been charged £674,615 (2006 £633,619] for corporate services provided by subsidiary undertakings.

The rernuneration receved by key management perscnnel, including the hrecters, 1s disclosed in note S
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